Agenda - Finance Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 4 - Ty Hywel Bethan Davies

Meeting date: 7 March 2018 Committee Clerk

Meeting time: 09.00 0300 200 6372

SeneddFinance@assembly.wales

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest

2 The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population: Evidence session 1

(Welsh NHS Confederation and Social Care Wales)

(09.00-09.50) (Pages 1 - 32)
Vanessa Young, Director, Welsh NHS Confederation

Carol Shillabeer, Chief Executive of Powys Teaching Health Board

Gerry Evans, Deputy Chief Executive, Social Care Wales

Paper 1 - Welsh NHS Confederation: Written evidence

Paper 2 - Social Care Wales: Written evidence

3 The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population: Evidence session 2

(Wales Public Services 2025)

(09.50-10.40) (Pages 33 - 72)
Dr Daria Luchinskaya, Wales Public Services 2025

Joseph Ogle, Wales Public Services 2025

Paper 3 - Wales Public Services 2025: Written evidence

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the

public from the remainder of the meeting
(10.40)

,Ff Cynulliad National
/’ Cenedlaethol Assembly for

Cymru Wales



The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population: Consideration of

evidence
(10.40-10.50)

Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend:

Consideration of written evidence

(10.50-11.00) (Pages 73 - 145)
Paper 4 - Cover paper

Paper 5 - Summary of evidence

Paper 6 - Consultation pack

Inquiry into the financial preparedness for leaving the European

Union: Approach to scrutiny

(11.00-11.20) (Pages 146 - 153)
Paper 7 - Approach to scrutiny

Tax Collection and Management (Wales) Act 2016: Tax Statutory

Instruments
(11.20-11.30) (Pages 154 - 163)

Paper 8 - The Welsh Revenue Authority (Powers to Investigate Criminal

Offences) Regulations 2018

The Welsh Revenue Authority (Powers to Investigate Criminal Offences)

Requlations 2018

The Welsh Revenue Authority (Powers to Investigate Criminal Offences)

Requlations 2018 - Explanatory Memorandum

Paper 9 - The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (References to Welsh Revenue
Authority Financial Investigators) Order 2018

The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (References to Welsh Revenue Authority

Financial Investigators) Order 2018



http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11420/sub-ld11420-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11420/sub-ld11420-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11420-em/sub-ld11420-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11420-em/sub-ld11420-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11421/sub-ld11421-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11421/sub-ld11421-e.pdf

The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (References to Welsh Revenue Authority

Financial Investigators) Order 2018 - Explanatory Memorandum

Paper 10 - The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and

Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2018

The Requlation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert

Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2018

The Requlation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert

Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2018 - Explanatory

Memorandum



http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11421-em/sub-ld11421-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11421-em/sub-ld11421-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11423/sub-ld11423-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11423/sub-ld11423-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11423-em/sub-ld11423-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11423-em/sub-ld11423-em-e.pdf
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/sub-ld11423-em/sub-ld11423-em-e.pdf

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
FIN(5)-07-18 P1
Agenaa ltemr2-,
THE WELS HS CONFEDERATIQN :
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ®

The Welsh NHS Confederation response to the Finance Committee inquiry into the cost of
caring for an ageing population.

Contact Nesta Lloyd — Jones, Policy and Public Affairs Manager, the Welsh NHS Confederation.
Nesta.lloyd-jones@welshconfed.org Tel: 02920 349857

Date: 19 February 2018

Introduction
1. We welcome the opportunity to contribute to the Finance Committee inquiry into the cost
of caring for an ageing population.

2. The Welsh NHS Confederation represents the seven Local Health Boards (LHBs) and three
NHS Trusts in Wales. The Welsh NHS Confederation supports our members to improve
health and well-being by working with them to deliver high standards of care for patients
and best value for taxpayers’ money. We act as a driving force for positive change through
strong representation and our policy, influencing and engagement work.

Overview

3. As highlighted in our recent briefing, “Finance and the NHS in Wales”,' there is little doubt
that health and social care services have faced, and will continue to face, enormous
challenges over the coming years with increasing demand and expectations. We have the
opportunity in Wales to create a sustainable health and social care system that the Welsh
population needs and deserves and the recently published Parliamentary Review of
Health and Social Care in Wales report provides us with a renewed urgency for discussion
and the framework within which vital decisions for the future of our health and social care
system can be taken.

4. The current system was designed nearly seventy years ago when life in Wales was very
different than it is today. There is a real need to shift, at pace, the health and social care
system in Wales away from treatment to an integrated system based on well-being,
prevention and early intervention as set out in the Parliamentary Review report.

5. However, one immediate challenge is the need for appropriate levels of funding and a
long-term funding model to support the health and social care system. Without adequate
funding and new investment for health and social care in the future, the changes outlined
in the Parliamentary Review report will not be enough to ensure a sustainable health and
care system.

1
Pack Page 1



mailto:Nesta.lloyd-jones@welshconfed.org

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

The Terms of Reference for the inquiry are:

To examine patterns in demand for social care services for those of pension age and the
related costs of delivery of residential and non-residential care, taking account of the role
of informal carers who provide unpaid services to those requiring care;

6. Since the creation of the NHS almost 70 years ago, society has changed dramatically. Our
average life expectancy has improved considerably, which is partly down to the success
of the NHS and is something to celebrate. However, an ageing population also brings with
it a series of fresh challenges for the health and social care sector, and as with all other
UK health systems, the NHS in Wales faces these challenges as it works against a backdrop
of increasing demand and under increasing financial pressure.

7. An ageing population, coupled with an increasing number of people having multiple and
complex needs, means the demand for health and social care services is predicted to grow
rapidly in the near future. Wales has the largest and fastest growing proportion of older
people (aged 65 and over) of any other UK nation. The population of older people in Wales
grew by 77,176 people between 2009-10 and 2015-16 and formed 20.2% of the
population in Wales in 2015. In contrast, older people formed 17.7% of the English
population in 2015.

8. The number of people aged 65 and over is projected to increase by 50% by 2037 in Wales
while the number of young people aged 16-24 is set to decrease by 3% by the same year."
More than a third of the population of Wales is expected to be over the age of 60 by 2055
and by 2069, those aged over 75 will be the biggest proportion of all age groups.

Wales Population Projections
People Aged: | 2016 2020 2025 2030
65-69 195,540 176,970 186,400 207,450
70-74 154,830 179,960 164,790 174,440
75-79 116,570 132,020 159,990 147,640
80-84 85610 93,160 108,770 133,620
85+ 84370 95,430 114,500 141,530
Total 636,920 677,540 734,450 804,680
+6.37% +15.31% +26.33%
*% changes are all from 2016
9. Inadditionto the projected increase in older people, Wales currently has the highest rates

of long-term limiting illness in the UK, which is the most expensive aspect of NHS care.
Between 2001-02 and 2010-11 the number of people with a chronic or long-term
condition in Wales increased from 105,000 to 142,000." This figure is expected to rise for
a number of conditions, including cancer, dementia and diabetes.

2
Pack Page 2



10.

11.

12.

13.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

In relation to residential care, the care home market remains a significant part of the
national care and support offer. This is a vital sector with who our members work in
partnership and together will consider the future services required to meet the change in
demographic. The Welsh Government Care Home Steering Group, established to
investigate and report on key issues impacting on the care home sector in Wales, includes
Carol Shillabeer, the Chief Executive of Powys Teaching Health Board as a member.

While we need to be cautious in planning demand for care home placements based purely
upon population projections and current use of care homes because demand, as stated
below, will be influenced by a range of factors. We can say however, if everything else
stood still the changes in population could lead to the need for additional placements in
care homes.

According to Care Inspectorate Wales, as at March 2017 there were 642 care homes
providing 22,217 places for adults over 65." Some homes have closed since this time but
it is worth highlighting this is about double the average number of daily available NHS
beds, which in 2016 — 17 was 10,856.Y Health Boards and Local Authorities spend
approximately £369 million on placements in care homes for older people in Wales. This
excludes client contributions, third party payments and the fees paid by those individuals
who fund their own care. This is a substantial market and contributes significantly both to
the economy and employment in Wales.

The care home market for older people is far from being in a state of equilibrium with
considerable vacancies in the residential care sector together with difficulties in
responding to demand for nursing home placements in some areas at the time they are
required. Care homes themselves report serious challenges both in terms of funding and
workforce recruitment, retention and development. People are also being admitted with
more complex needs. The future demand on places in care homes will be dependent upon
a range of factors. These include:

e The growth of the population of older people;

e The support available from family and friends;

e The quality of support available to family/ carers is essential;

e Effective arrangements for assessment and care planning;

e The development of the range and quality of care and support services in the
community together with alternative accessible forms of accommodation such as, for
example, extra care housing;

e More effective treatment and support to individuals with long term conditions. This
also involves treatment and support to help individuals manage problems in relation
to continence;

e Development of technology enabled care to help individuals manage their own care
and provide additional safeguards; and

e The development of appropriate care pathways to ensure that individuals have access
to rehabilitation and reablement.

3
Pack Page 3



THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

14. Finally, the role of informal carers is key. There are estimated to be more than 370,000

15.

unpaid carers in Wales and the contribution they make is enormous, both in terms of care
hours provided, the increasing number of elderly carers and the toll on their own health,
well-being, employment and leisure opportunities. Research carried out by Carers UKY
found that half of carers (52%) said their health was affected as a result of their caring
responsibilities. The amount of care provided by unpaid carers saves the Welsh economy
£8.1bn every year."i

Within the Welsh Governments Carers Measure 2010, Health Boards were given a lead
role to work with partners including Local Authorities, third sector and importantly carers
themselves. The Carers Measure has been repealed with the introduction of the Social
Services and Well-being Act 2014 in April 2016. The Act provides new rights for carers and
identifies integration of services for carers as a priority under part 9 of the Act. As part of
the Social Services and Well-being Act, Health Boards have developed Regional Carers
Strategies to support carers within their population. One of the biggest challenges in
relation to informal carers is the need to access respite provision which is suitable and
accessible in the local area. Currently respite provision is very hard to commission as
providers do not appear to have much capacity for this.

To examine the financial pressures on the social care system, such as increases in wages,
automatic pension enrolment and staff recruitment and retention difficulties, including the
related financial impacts arising from the UK leaving the European Union;

16.

17

The Health Foundation report, “The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS
in Wales to 2019/20 and 2030/31” "l found that in 2014/15 Wales spent £1.2bn on
personal social services, excluding family and children’s services. This is worth around
£397 per head of population, which is higher than in England (£290). Pressures on publicly
funded adult social care in Wales are projected to rise by around 4.1% a year in real terms,
using estimates from the London School of Economics and Political Science (LSE). Fully
funding these pressures would require an extra £1.0bn by 2030/31, rising to £2.3bn from
£1.3bn in 2015/16. The steps taken by the NHS to support and work with other services,
and by government to adequately resource them, will have implications for the long-term
sustainability of the health and social care.

. The Wales Public Services 2025 report, “A delicate balance? Health and Social Care

spending in Wales”,” highlights that given population and other demand trends,
projections suggest there will have to be a near doubling of spending on Local Authority
social services for older people by 2030. The report highlights that Wales has pursued a
more balanced approach to NHS and social care spending than England over the period
2009-10 to 2015-16, but, even so, spending through Local Authorities on social care for
the over 65s is not keeping pace with the growth in the population of older people. The
increasing over-65 population in Wales means that spending per older person has fallen
by over 12% in real terms over that period and on current population projections, Wales
would need to be spending at least an additional £129 million (23%) by 2020-21 (at 2016-

4
Pack Page 4



18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

17 prices) to bring the per capita spend on Local Authority social services for over-65s
back to 2009-10 levels, which is equivalent to a year-on-year growth rate of 2.5%.

It must be recognised that Wales made a distinctive set of choices over its spending on
health and social care over the period 2009-10 to 2015-16 in responding to complex
challenges. Budgets were squeezed and UK Government austerity measures led to an
8.2% reduction in the funds available for day-to-day spending in Wales at a time when
demand pressures grew.

An effective interface between health and social care has been crucial in responding to
these challenges. Budgets for England have concentrated on increasing health spending
while local government spending on social care has declined, whereas in Wales the Welsh
Government pursued a more balanced approach. The total health, personal and social
service spend per head in Wales was 6.3% higher than that of England in 2015-16, £2,733
compared to £2,571 (2016-17 prices). The day-to-day spending on Local Authority-
organised adult social services has remained broadly flat in real terms in Wales, while in
England it fell 6.4% over the period 2009 10 to 2015-16.

In relation to the care home sector, as the Public Policy Institute for Wales “The Care Home
Market in Wales: Mapping the Sector”,* highlights due to the financial pressures it has
become more difficult for new entrants to enter the market, particular as capital costs for
entry are high. This along with the introduction of the National Living Wage and work
place pensions is affecting the financial viability of care homes in Wales.

Care homes in Wales, and throughout the UK, are experiencing serious challenges in terms
of financial stability, recruitment of staff, including nurses and registered managers,
responding to higher levels of acuity and dependency among their residents, including
more complex health conditions, and not least the negative image of care homes. “The
Care Home Market” Report® highlights at the current time there are two particular risks
that might need to be considered. Firstly, the potential for a large provider to get into
major difficulties leading to the sudden withdrawal of a significant number of services
from the market. Although the market share of large providers in Wales is comparatively
low, this risk is always a possibility and something which needs to be factored in to any
future oversight regime. The second particular risk is of ongoing closures of smaller group
and single home providers as the economics of the market make them less viable and
sales of property more attractive to their owners. Although a policy goal is to support
people in the community wherever possible, the significant number of older people aged
85+ projected suggests that demand for care homes is unlikely to reduce during that time
without huge investment in alternative provision such as extra care housing.

Finally, in relation to Brexit the implications of a UK withdrawal from the EU are
anticipated to affect all parts of the health care system. Many aspects of UK health and
social care services have been influenced by European Union policies and legislation.
Depending on the settlement, the UK’s exit from the EU could have a profound impact on
the UK economy and the delivery of public services. The annual funding of the health and

5
Pack Page 5



23.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

care system depends on the performance of the economy. It is a concern therefore that
leading economists have suggested that Brexit could lead to an economic downturn. The
Health Foundation has previously estimated that the NHS budget in England could be £2.8
billion lower than currently planned by 2019-20.4" In the longer term, the analysis concludes
that the NHS funding shortfall could be at least £19 billion by 2030-31- equivalent to £365 million
a week — assuming the UK is able to join the European Economic Area. If this is not the case, the
shortfall will potentially be as high as £28 billion — which is £540 million a week. The
repercussions will be felt by NHS and social care in Wales.

In addition to finance, the health and care system is heavily reliant on EU workers. While
the UK Government has given some reassurance that EU nationals can remain in the UK,
we believe the priority must be to ensure that the UK can continue to recruit and retain
much needed health and social care staff from the EU and beyond, whilst increasing the
domestic supply. Our priority in NHS Wales will be to ensure a continuing ‘pipeline’ of staff
for the sector. The immigration system that is in place after the UK leaves the EU will need
to ensure that, alongside our domestic workforce strategy, it supports the ability of our
sector to provide the best care to our communities and people who use our services.

To consider the financial impact of current Welsh Government policies - including recent
social services legislation and reforms to social care funding - on local authorities, care
providers and service users;

24. From a NHS perspective the financial impact of the Social Services and Well-being Act

25.

2014 and Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 is still unclear because it is very
difficult to quantify the costs but they have led to increased joint working between health
and social care and improved outcome for individuals accessing services.

Part 9 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (‘the Act’) puts onto a
statutory footing seven Regional Partnership Boards (Boards) which bring together Health
Boards, Local Authorities, the third sector and other partners to improve the efficiency
and effectiveness of service delivery. The Boards oversee the Integrated Care Fund (ICF)
for their region and their purpose is to improve the outcomes and well-being of people in
response to the population assessment, also required by the Act. As part of their role in
making the best use of resources, Boards are required to promote the use of pooled funds.
Pooled funds must be established in relation to care home accommodation functions.
Boards must also consider the need for a pooled fund whenever they jointly respond to
the population assessment. The NHS highly values the Regional Partnership Boards and
across Wales senior joint posts are being created between health and social care.

26. The establishment of the £50 million ICF in 2014-15 has been a key driver for health and

social care integration in Wales, focusing initially on enabling older people to maintain
their independence at home, avoid unnecessary hospital admission and to prevent
delayed discharges. In 2017 the ICF scope was widened to include older people with
complex needs and long-term conditions (including dementia), people with learning
disabilities, children with complex needs due to disability or illness and carers.

6
Pack Page 6



THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N :0
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

27. The fund has supported collaboration and partnership working across social services,
health, housing, the third sector and the independent sector and has built on existing
good practice. It has also provided pump-priming money for the development of
innovative and new models of service delivery, care and support. Its success comes from
providing dedicated resources, joint decision-making and collaborative styles of working
to enable public servants to deliver transformational change.

Examples of how ICF Funding has been used across Wales in 2016-17

West Wales: nearly £235,000 was used by the Pembrokeshire Intermediate Voluntary
Organisations Team (PIVOT) which aims to improve opportunities for independent
living in the community and reduction in social isolation for individuals. The latest
figures show 1090 bed days saved and 109 hospital admissions avoided. 100% of
recipients surveyed said the service had made things better.

North Wales: nearly £57,000 was used for Occupational Therapy in Wrexham Maelor
Hospital and Ysbyty Glan Clwyd to provide a point of contact for families and patients
at weekends to expedite supported discharge. Latest figures show this service has
supported 138 patients and saved an estimated 60 bed days.

Gwent: nearly £120,000 supported new Patient flow co-ordinators who work to reduce
lengths of stay and delayed transfer of care. On average there are 103 patients who
are medically fit for transfer and in an acute hospital at the end of each day. This
funding aims to reduce this figure by 10%.

Western Bay: funding for a specialised nursing team that has consistently improved
hospital admissions avoidance. Last year the service resulted in 70 admissions being
avoided.

Powys: £30,000 for the Good Neighbour Scheme, which offers 1:1 befriending support
for older people with the aim of providing practical support, reducing isolation and
promoting independence. Latest figures show 143 people have used the service (37
new clients in the last quarter) with some 95 volunteers involved.

Cwm Taf: nearly £100,000 for the Complex Discharge Team which supports joined up
services between primary care, secondary care, community care, social care and
voluntary organisations. To date nearly 200 people have been supported by this
scheme.

28. The Public Service Boards (PSBs), introduced as part of the Well-being of Future
Generations (Wales) Act 2015, enable public services to commission and plan
collaboratively, ensuring services are integrated and that care and support provided
improves health and well-being outcomes for the local population. The Population Needs
Assessments that have been undertaken will help PSBs to identify priorities and specific

7
Pack Page 7



29.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

actions they need to meet the health and well-being needs of their citizens and to help
tackle health inequalities in their areas. Consideration should be given to involving other
partners in the design of local preventative services, including non-devolved public
services, local private companies and social movements. By leveraging innovative
partnerships, the NHS could find cost-effective and scalable ways to monitor their rising-
risk patients, engage more closely with patients and utilise the skills and qualities of local
people wherever possible.

All partners share a clear vision to transform the way we support individuals, families and
communities, adopting a new model of integrated health and social care services.
However, finding ways to fund sustainable and cost-effective services is challenging for all
sectors. Development of new delivery mechanisms such as social enterprises and
encouraging people to take more responsibility for their own health and well-being is not
a panacea for all needs. By providing more preventative and early intervention services,
we can support people as soon as they need it, help them to remain happily within their
family and community, and for some, avoid expensive and disruptive specialist and
substitute care. By doing this successfully over time we can take some resources out of
specialist and substitute care and into better community and universal services. However,
there will still always be a need for some specialist care and a more innovative and
sustainable solution is needed.

To consider future social care needs and related costs, including the projected increase in
the proportion of the population of Wales of pension age;

30.

31.

32.

As highlighted previously, finance has long been a challenge for health and social services,
but never more so than since the economic crash nearly a decade ago. Since then, all
public services have struggled in the face of public finance austerity and while the NHS
and social care have been relatively protected in Wales (compared to England and other
Welsh public services), both sectors continue to struggle in the face of an ageing
population with increasing chronic and complex health conditions.

Such a rise in demand, coupled with constrained financial resources, has made delivering
health and care services in the current model increasingly difficult. The NHS is committed
to working more efficiently to rise to the challenges it faces. However, it has become
increasingly clear that traditional methods of savings are unlikely to deliver what is
needed. It is important that we are realistic about the current and future costs of health
and care services and we need to work with stakeholders across the health and care sector
to fully understand the future resources required to secure the system.

Core NHS spending now accounts for more than 50% of the Welsh Government’s revenue
budget. However, in line with the rest of the UK funding growth, it has not kept pace with
the overall growth in Gross Domestic Product — something which the Health Foundation
suggests is key to ensuring a sustainable NHS in the future. At the same time social care
spending on day to day adult social services has remained broadly flat, but the increasing
over 65 population in Wales means that spending per older person has fallen by nearly
13% in real terms over that period.

8
Pack Page 8



33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

The public finance outlook for the foreseeable future at least remains pessimistic and the
indications are that the growth in funding which is badly needed in both health and social
care will be very difficult to find and will require difficult choices to be made about public
services in Wales.

The Health Foundation report,® referred to earlier, articulated the financial challenge
facing the health and social care sector in Wales over the next fifteen years. The report
suggests that a sustainable publicly financed healthcare system in Wales is achievable by
2031, but only with growth in funding in line with growth in GDP in respect of the NHS,
plus a 4% uplift year on year in social care funding. The Institute for Public Policy
Research* estimates that across the UK there will be a funding gap to the tune of £13
billion for adult social care, equivalent to 62% of the total expected budget, by 2030-31
and they warn “on current trends, adult social care is unsustainable”. Many other public
services have been squeezed out as Councils essentially run social care and school
provision. Unless funding for adult social care rises at the same rate as pressures, or there
is a dramatic change in the rate of efficiency growth for social care services, there is a risk
that the level of unmet need in Wales would rise.

Both the NHS and Local Government have delivered millions of pounds of recurrent
efficiency savings over the past five years, as evidenced in various Wales Audit Office
reports. We now need to become more sophisticated in our search for further resource
releasing efficiencies, going beyond the delivery of traditional technical efficiencies to
consider the efficiency of our resource allocation, based on a better understanding of the
outcomes of our spending decisions. As highlighted within the Parliamentary Review,
there is further potential to drive technical efficiencies from across the NHS. Our members
are working to implement an efficiency programme using benchmark data, but we believe
a greater pace could be achieved if Wales adopted a more systematic approach to
efficiency, akin to the Carter work in England.® Similarly, we urge Welsh Government,
Health Boards and Councils to consider the allocative efficiency of their budget processes
to ensure they allocate resources to support a preventative model of health and social
care.

Even then, the demographic trajectory combined with medical and pharmaceutical
developments will lead the health and social care sector to continue to need substantial
ongoing financial support, which is likely to involve further disinvestment in other public
services. We recognise that the funding required is not within the Welsh Government’s
gift, even with the introduction of income tax raising powers. But we cannot simply ignore
the reality of the problem.

Many public-sector leaders — politicians and policy makers — already recognise that the
current funding model is no longer fit for purpose. It was designed in the post-war era
when the birth rate was falling and the world was a very different place. While we would
all champion a free health and social care system for all, those in positions of responsibility
need to be honest with the public about what that could mean in the future. Especially if

9
Pack Page 9



38.

39.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

we don’t succeed in securing the shared ownership and changed behaviours from the
public.

We believe that it is not possible to consider the long-term future of health and social care
in Wales without considering the issue of how and to what level the system should be
funded in the future as this will impact on decisions we make in the next five to ten years.
Short term funding fixes will not suffice if we are to address the serious financial
challenges we face. Neither will small scale amendments to the edges of service delivery.
Indeed, the recent House of Lords Select Committee report into the long term
sustainability of the NHS calls for radical service transformation, long-term funding
solutions and immediate and sustained action on adult social care as the three key
objectives that must be addressed if the NHS is to make real progress towards achieving
long term sustainability. il We agree and believe that governments need to consider
alternative funding models for the health and social care sector in the future. This could
include options such as increasing taxes as well as paying for specific services or rationing
others.

Finally, health and care providers need to work with education colleagues to ensure that
schools and colleges highlight that a career in caring is a positive career choice. Failure to
do so will mean less and less young people entering this field of work and the inability to
provide care for those who need to receive it. The NHS has already started working in a
more coordinated way with our education colleagues, including an event in Cwm Taf UHB
where Year 9 were invited into Prince Charles Hospital, Merthyr, to show them the
breadth of work undertaken by the NHS to provide 24/7 care and to inspire them to
consider a future career within the service.

To assess the fiscal levers available to the Welsh Government to reform the arrangements
for funding social care. This will include the consideration of alternative models, including
international examples, for the funding of social care to ensure a good quality, fair and
sustainable service in a time of increasing demands on the health and social care systems;

40.

41.

Some commentators are arguing that we now need a dedicated national health and care
fund for integrated health and care. This would require some general taxation but could
be gradually built up with more money from hypothecated taxes associated with health
and consumption of care. This means using taxes on tobacco, alcohol, unhealthy foods,
gambling and inheritance, and possibly a compulsory insurance tax at age 50, to pay for
social care in old age. At its 2014 conference the Royal College of Nurses nationally
debated whether a possible solution to current challenges would be to introduce patient
charges for GP visits. Others have suggested that well-designed user charges would not
only raise additional revenue, but would also limit unnecessary demand, encourage
greater cost-effectiveness in the use of healthcare services, and promote the adoption of
healthy lifestyles.

In addition to fiscal levers available to the Welsh Government, to ensure a sustainable
health and social care system it is vital that we empower the public to become active

10
Pack Page 10



42.

43,

44,

45.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

participants in the services that they receive. Changing public attitudes and behaviour is
critical, as the Parliamentary Review highlighted we need to put the people in control
through “Strengthen individual and community involvement, through voice and control in
health and care, and ensuring all ages and communities have equal involvement” .

There is an urgent need for a meaningful dialogue with the public about the future of
public services, their expectations of these services and the different role they need to
play. This is vital because evidence shows that public support is critical to delivering and
securing policy and behaviour change. Programmes that are most successful in galvanising
public support are those which place the public at the heart of the decision-making
process, particularly when combined, where appropriate, with enabling legislation. This is
borne out by successful national policies and programmes, such as seatbelt laws, the
carrier bag levy, road safety campaigns, banning smoking in public places, and most
recently in Wales, organ donation. In Wales we now have the legislative framework we
need in the form of the Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Social Services and
Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014, but we still need to win the hearts and minds of the Welsh
public.

Currently, the Welsh public is being bombarded with messages from public services,
voluntary organisations, government, various media outlets and personal networks.
Similarly, there are different requirements around public consultation in health and social
care. There is an opportunity for effective communication and engagement with the
public and patients to be more impactful across the whole public service by developing
holistic messaging which would encourage public acceptance of the need for change.

There is also a requirement for an open and honest conversation with the public about
what the NHS can provide in future. While the NHS is free at the point of contact, it is not
free of obligation, and the public will need to be supported in taking more responsibility
for their own health. The NHS belongs to us all, and as individuals, we should do what we
can to ensure it is sustainable, both now and in the future. In January 2017, the Welsh
NHS Confederation conducted a survey™ which provided some encouraging results
around the public’s understanding of their role in taking responsibility for their health
well-being and a willingness to take action. More than 90% said they have a great deal or
a fair amount of responsibility for their own health and well-being, while 55% said they
should be doing more to look after their own health and well-being.

These ideas may be controversial, but shying away from difficult debates over these issues
will not help the health service or social care an in the long run.

To consider the findings and conclusions of the Parliamentary Review.

46.

The Welsh NHS Confederation welcomed the publication of the Parliamentary Review
Report and are pleased to see many of the points raised in the report reflect the evidence
submitted by the Welsh NHS Confederation as part of the consultation process, including
a number of recommendations that we put forward.

11
Pack Page 11



47.

48.

49.

50.

THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(§N s
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, ,°

The report makes a major contribution to the debate on how to create a sustainable
health and care system in Wales. Our members agree that a different system of care is
needed — one that is seamless across health and social care, physical and mental health,
and secondary and primary community care.

The report recognises that we have been moving towards a more integrated system for a
number of years and there are many good examples of new models of care that are
already working in Wales. The challenge is how we can be more radical and ambitious, to
accelerate the pace in moving to a genuinely seamless system. We are particularly pleased
the report recognises the need to involve the public in the design and development of
new service models. The citizen voice must be part of the solution to the challenges we
face, with people being empowered to be actively involved in their own health and
wellbeing.

While supportive of the Parliamentary Review findings, the report raises concerns around
funding of health and social care in the future. The absence of any consideration of the
long-term model for funding health and social care is the elephant in the room. We agree
it is crucial for us to increase the value we achieve from the funding of health and care. It
is also helpful that the report recognises that the level and sources of funding for health
and social care remain key national issues. As we develop plans to transform the health
and care system we must ensure they are supported by sustainable funding. We have
recommended that the report is considered in conjunction with the Health Foundation’s
2016 “Path to Sustainability” report that analyses the demand and cost pressures facing
Wales now and until 2031. Without adequate funding for health and social care in the
future, the changes outlined in the report will not be enough to ensure a sustainable
health and care system. As the Health Foundation report states “There is a strong link
between spending on social care and the NHS, so any increase in unmet need for social
care would be likely to lead to a rise in demand for NHS services”.

Following the Parliamentary Review report we look forward to working with the Welsh
Government and other organisations in the health and social care sector to develop a plan
of action that will deliver the best services to the people of Wales.

Conclusion

51.

52.

The complex nature of finances in the Welsh healthcare system, coupled with various
external pressures and challenges it faces, indicates that the growth in funding and the
more prudent use of existing resources is needed in health and social care. However, this
will be very difficult to find and will require difficult choices to be made about public
services in Wales.

The NHS and Local Government have delivered millions of pounds of recurrent efficiency
savings over the past five years, we now need to become more sophisticated in our search
for further resource releasing efficiencies. We need to go beyond the delivery of
traditional technical efficiencies to think innovatively and consider the efficiency of our

12
Pack Page 12



THE WELSH NHS CONFEDERATI(}N
CONFFEDERASIWN GIG CYMRU ¢, °

resource allocation, based on a better understanding of the outcomes of spending
decisions.

53. To address the challenges, there is a need for radical service transformation, long-term
funding solutions and sustained action on social care if the NHS is to make real progress
towards achieving long term sustainability.

"Welsh NHS Confederation, November 2017. Finance and the NHS in Wales.

i Welsh Government, StatsWales, July 2013. Population projections by local authority and year.

it Nuffield Trust, June 2014. A Decade of Austerity in Wales?

v Welsh Government, June 2017. Services and places regulated by CSSIW, March 2017.
http://careinspectorate.wales/docs/cssiw/publications/170620annualstatsen.pdf

V' Welsh Government, Stats Wales 2016 — 17 https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-
Care/NHS-Hospital-Activity/NHS-Beds/nhsbeds-by-organisation-site

vi Carers UK, November 2017. Make connections, get support.

Vit Carers Trust, November 2015. Valuing Carers 2015 — the rising value of carers’ support.

Vil Health Foundation, October 2016. “The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to
2019/20 and 2030/31”.

* Wales Public Services 2025, April 2017 “A delicate balance? Health and Social Care spending in Wales”.

¥ Public Policy Institute for Wales, October 2015. The Care Home Market in Wales: Mapping the Sector.

X public Policy Institute for Wales, October 2015. The Care Home Market in Wales: Mapping the Sector.

Xi Health Foundation, July 2016, NHS Finances Outside the EU.

Xil Health Foundation, October 2016. “The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to
2019/20 and 2030/31”.

XV Health Foundation, October 2016. “The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to
2019/20 and 2030/31”.

¥ Institute for Public Policy Research, December 2016. Future Proof: Britain in the 2020s.

“i Wales Audit Office reports.

https://www.wao.gov.uk/publications?combine=&field topics tid i18n=8&field sectors tid i18n=All&create
d 1=All&field area tid i18n 1=All&field reports tid i18n=57

Wi Qperational productivity and performance in English NHS Acute Hospitals: Unwarranted variation, Lord
Carter February 2016.

il House of Lords Select Committee, ‘The Long-term Sustainability of the NHS and Adult Social Care’, 5™ April
2017, HL Paper 151.

X http://www.nhsconfed.org/media-centre/2017/02/whole-system-shift-towards-preventative-services-
needed

13
Pack Page 13


http://careinspectorate.wales/docs/cssiw/publications/170620annualstatsen.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/NHS-Hospital-Activity/NHS-Beds/nhsbeds-by-organisation-site
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/NHS-Hospital-Activity/NHS-Beds/nhsbeds-by-organisation-site
https://www.wao.gov.uk/publications?combine=&field_topics_tid_i18n=8&field_sectors_tid_i18n=All&created_1=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=57
https://www.wao.gov.uk/publications?combine=&field_topics_tid_i18n=8&field_sectors_tid_i18n=All&created_1=All&field_area_tid_i18n_1=All&field_reports_tid_i18n=57
http://www.nhsconfed.org/media-centre/2017/02/whole-system-shift-towards-preventative-services-needed
http://www.nhsconfed.org/media-centre/2017/02/whole-system-shift-towards-preventative-services-needed

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
FIN(5)-07-18 P2

The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population, Finance Committee inquiry, Social Care
Wales response

Gerry Evans, Director of Regulation and Intelligence
Social Care Wales

ceri.williams@socialcare.wales

029 2078 0543

Social Care Wales is a Welsh Government sponsored body established under the
Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act, 2016 to protect, promote and maintain
the safety and well-being of the public in Wales.

Our aims are to:

e Provide public confidence in the social care workforce
e Lead and support improvement in social care
e Develop the early years and social care workforce

Key points

e Social care services face significant demand pressures from an ageing
population (par 1)

e Financial pressures have led to low pay in the social care sector which has a
significant impact on recruitment (pars 2-6)

To examine patterns in demand for social care services for those of pension age and
the related costs of delivery of residential and non-residential care, taking account of
the role of informal carers who provide unpaid services to those requiring care

1. Last year, we commissioned the Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) to
prepare a literature review about care and support at home. In terms of demand, the
report found that social care services in Wales face significant challenges:

“The demand for social care services and care labour is growing in the context of
significant demographic changes and the growing incidence and large prevalence of
complex, long term conditions. ‘The ageing population means over a quarter of the
population in Wales is aged 50 plus. Those aged over 65 are expected to increase
from around 600,000 in 2013 to 900,000 in 2037 and the number of over 85s is
growing at an even faster rate (Age Cymru, 2015). Wales also has a higher
proportion of people aged 85 plus compared to the rest of the UK (StatsWales,
2012).” Population growth and demographic profile projections indicate that the
supply side of social care is struggling to keep pace with demand. The data indicates
that across the UK over half a million new care workers/home carers will be needed
by 2022 (Howat et al., 2015)."”

To examine the financial pressures on the social care system, such as increases in
wages, automatic pension enrolment and staff recruitment and retention difficulties,
including the related financial impacts arising from the UK leaving the European
Union

! Development of a strategic plan for care and support at home, literature review, Social Care Institute for
Excellence (SCIE) for the Care Council for Wales (now Social Care Wales), 2016

Pack Page 14


mailto:ceri.williams@socialcare.wales

Financial pressures have had a direct impact on the wages of social care employees.
This in turn has had a significant impact on recruitment and retention. The terms and
conditions of the care workforce are a significant obstacle to recruitment to roles
which require increasing levels of complexity and skill and expectations to deliver
more health-related tasks. This is further exacerbated by the disparity between NHS
and social care pay levels.

SCIE’s literature review on domiciliary care provided further evidence of the impact of
low pay on recruitment:

“Frontline roles within the care sector are generally perceived as low-status, low-skills
jobs. This is reflected in the rates of pay, with most workers being paid at or around
the National Minimum Wage. Low wages impact directly on the ability to recruit and
retain staff particularly in the context of other sectors, including retail, being able to
offer higher pay. ‘Recent ONS data (Kirton, 2015) shows that unemployment in
Wales, at 6.4%, is now around pre-recession levels and that pay has performed
relatively strongly in retail as opposed to the more constrained public and associated
sectors. Social care pay rates risk falling further behind other competitor sectors.’?”

The limits of what can be expected of care workers for what they are paid has been
reached or exceeded. This is being demonstrated in difficulties in recruitment and
retention of care workers and managers of care when alternative employment
opportunities do not bring the same pressures and offer greater financial reward.

The disparity in pay between NHS health care support workers and social care
workers is likely to be a major inhibitor to joint social care and health collaboration
and the desire for seamless delivery.

We have commissioned research® which shows that the home care workforce is
positively motivated by their role in providing care and support, however it also
suggests that terms and conditions could act as a barrier to people who may wish to
work in the sector.

The precise impact of leaving the European Union on the social care workforce in
Wales is not known nor do we have accurate data on the proportion of EU workers in
the social care workforce. In England it ranges from 4 per cent in the North East to
12 per cent in the West Midlands to 39 per cent in London*.

To consider the financial impact of current Welsh Government policies - including
recent social services legislation and reforms to social care funding - on local
authorities, care providers and service users;

8. There is widespread anecdotal evidence that people are confused about paying for

social care when healthcare is free at the point of delivery. This is particularly evident
when people have very complex and/or long term health and care needs, who may

2 Development of a strategic plan for care and support at home: Literature review, SCIE

3 ‘Factors that affect the recruitment and retention of domiciliary care workers and the extent to which these
factors impact upon the quality of care’, Care Council for Wales / Welsh Government 2016

4 The state of the adult social care sector and workforce in England, 2017, Skills for Care

Pack Page 15


http://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Documents/NMDS-SC-and-intelligence/NMDS-SC/Analysis-pages/State-of-17/State-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-2017.pdf

9.

also meet the NHS continuing healthcare threshold.

We have also received evidence from the sector that preventative support from
community and third sector services are reducing, arising from councils and other
bodies re-directing resources to statutory functions and critical services, due to
budget challenges over recent years.

To consider future social care needs and related costs, including the projected
increase in the proportion of the population of Wales of pension age

10.

11.

The demography of our society is changing, with increased need for public service
support. We are an ageing society. The number of people aged 65 and over is
projected to increase by 292,000 (44 per cent) between 2014 and 2039°. We see
many more people in their middle years with significant disabilities who expect to live
fulfilled lives. We are seeing many more children with significant disabilities or
disadvantages who have high expectations of support that protects them and helps
them to achieve their full potential.

Social care services are facing real and unsustainable increases in demand to meet
society’s needs. According to the Health Foundation, “pressures for adult social care
are projected to rise faster than for the NHS, by an average of 4.1% a year. With
funding unlikely to rise at the same rate, there is a real risk that the level of unmet
need for care services could rise in Wales.®”

5 National population projections, Office of National Statistics and the Welsh Government, 2015
6 The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to 2019/20 and 2030/31, Health
Foundation, 2016

Pack Page 16


http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-population-projections/?lang=en
http://www.health.org.uk/publication/path-sustainability

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 17



Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
FIN(5)-07-18 P3

Agenda Iltem 3

Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru
Wales Public Services

National Assembly for Wales Consultation:

The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population

Submission by Wales Public Services 2025

January 2018

Pack Page 33



Joseph Ogle

Wales Public Services 2025

For further information, please contact:

Wales Public Services 2025
Tel : 029 2087 0913
Email : info@wps2025.org.uk

Wales Public Services 2025 is hosted by Cardiff Business School and is
funded through a partnership between Cardiff University, the Welsh Local
Government Association, the NHS Wales Confederation, the Wales Council
for Voluntary Action, Community Housing Cymru and Solace Wales.

Pack Page 34


mailto:info@

Contents

(@0 1 (=1 ] £
ST U ] 010 1= 1Y P PP

1 (oT0 [UTox 1 To ] o TP

Pack Page 35



Summary

The evidence set out in this paper primarily comes from our analysis of local government

spending in Wales through the period of austerity (2009-10 to 2016-17)%, including on social

care for the over-65s. It therefore covers only one aspect of the costs of caring for an ageing

population and there are several caveats:

Gaps in the current published data for Wales mean that we have not been able to
directly associate changes in social care spending to changes in the health and
wellbeing of service users and carers. We cannot comment on the level of public

spending required in order to reach a specific ‘quality’ of care services in future.

For reasons we set out below, the data we draw on may not fully capture the developing,
but patchy, trend towards more integrated working between local authorities and the
NHS, for example through the Regional Partnership Boards, the use of Section 33

pooled budgets and the Integrated Care Fund.

Our paper does not cover the complex issues surrounding demographic pressures on
health spending. We note the comment from the Office for Budget Responsibility that
‘demographic effects have explained only a small part of the increase in health spending
over past decades and they are likely to remain a relatively small, although growing,

driver of spending in the future’. 2

Patterns in demand for social care services for those of pension age;

Net current spending on social services for over-65s by Welsh local authorities in 2016-
17 was £ 565 million, about 10% of total net service spending. Although Welsh local
authorities have broadly protected real terms spending on social services as a whole
through the period of austerity, the pattern across client groups has varied. Whereas
spending on looked after children rose substantially, net local authority expenditure on
older adult (aged 65+) social care services declined slightly, by 0.8 per cent (£4.3m in
2017-18 prices), between 2009-10 and 2016-17. Given the rising population of over-65s,

this was equivalent to a reduction of 14.4 per cent per older person.

! http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/11/Austerity-and-Local-Government.pdf

2 http://cdn.obr.uk/FSR_Jan17.pdf

Pack Pagé 36


http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/11/Austerity-and-Local-Government.pdf

e This appears to have been accompanied by a more targeted approach to spending. The
data points to a decline in the number of older adults supported by local authorities,
despite a growing population. However, available data indicates the possibility of a
significant (17%) increase in the level of spending per service user, which may reflect
changes in local level eligibility criteria for support and a focus on individuals with
relatively higher needs.

e The English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) provides one model in which the Welsh
Government could invest so as to monitor how the health and wellbeing of pension age
adults and those around them is effected by public policy.

Future social care needs and related costs

e The best available evidence on the future costs of providing adult social care in Wales?®
suggests that demand for adult care (that is, care services for all individuals aged 16 and
over) should be rising by around 4.1% a year from 2015 up to 2030-31 due to

demography, chronic conditions and rising costs.

e The general direction of this projection is supported by recently forecast trends in
disability and life expectancy in England and Wales up to 2025.% According to this
research, although total life expectancy at age 65 years will increase by 1-7 years up to
2025, life expectancy with disability will increase more in relative terms, with an increase
of roughly 15% from 2015 (4-7 years) to 2025 (5-4 years) implying greater age-specific

demand pressures on older adult care services.

e The rising number of over-65s mean that maintaining 2016-17 levels of local authority
spending per adult aged 65+ on social care over the next decade would require an 18.0
per cent (£101m) real terms rise in net current expenditure by 2026-27, or a 27.2 per
cent (E154m) rise by 2030-31. The Health Foundation demand projections would point to
a much bigger real terms increase: 83% by 2030-31 (around £470 million).

3 Watt and Roberts (2016), ‘The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to 2019/20 and
2030/31’, available here: http://mww.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/PathToSustainability_0.pdf

4 Guzman-Castillo et al. (2017), ‘Forecasted trends in disability and life expectancy in England

and Wales up to 2025: a modelling study’, Lancet Public Health, available here:
http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/P11S2468-2667(17)30091-9.pdf .

Pack Page 37


http://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/PathToSustainability_0.pdf

o However, these estimates only project what is required in order to maintain a specific
supply of services based on a fixed starting position and policy mix, with arbitrary

importance therefore placed on the chosen base year of analysis.

The fiscal levers available to the Welsh Government

e There may be limits to the extent to which Council Tax can be used to generate
significant additional funding. Collected council tax (currently around £1.5 billion a
year) increased by 20.6% in real terms between 2009-10 and 2016-17, partially
offsetting reductions in Welsh Government funding for local government. A
regressive tax as it currently operates, council tax now accounts for a higher

proportion of average household disposable income in Wales than in 2009-10.

o Wales’ devolved tax powers open up new financing options although the challenge
remains substantial. A recent estimate indicated that changing the Welsh rate of
income tax by 1p across each band could lead to an increase in the Welsh resource
budget of around £200 million a year (subject to behavioural responses), although
further research is taking place. Other factors such as change in UK fiscal policy or
growth in the Welsh economy could have a significant impact. As things stand the
use of devolved tax powers could be part of the solution but may not offer the whole

solution.

e This suggests that further options need to be explored. Proposals for a funded
contributory system of financing older adult care represent a promising alterative to the
current pay-as-you-go model in that it could promote intergenerational fairness and

value for money.

e The UK has some of the highest rates of ‘intensive’ informal caregiving in Europe
(defined as 11+ hours of care per week), which is associated with lower levels of
mental well-being. New data is required to evidence possible policy responses, from

which future cost projections and fiscal lever options can be decided.

Pack Page 38



Introduction

The present submission to the National Assembly for Wales’ consultation into the financial
impact of the cost of caring for an ageing population will seek to address the following three

items from within the inquiry’s broader terms of reference:

1. To examine patterns in demand for social care services for those of pension age;

2. To consider future social care needs and related costs, including the projected
increase in the proportion of the population of Wales of pension age; and

3. To assess the fiscal levers available to the Welsh Government to reform the
arrangements for funding social care.

One key limiting factor common across our response to each of these questions is the current
deficit in published data from which to directly associate changes in social care spending with
the health and wellbeing of service users and carers in Wales. As a result, we are not able
specify a ‘correct’ amount of public expenditure in any given period, as defined by an objective
and measurable metric of health and wellbeing outcomes for all adults of pension age, whether
or not they receive formal local authority organised care support.

The recent Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care in Wales has stressed the
importance of developing a national health and social care data resource to drive decision
making and improve health and care quality.> . As we discuss below, longitudinal data
available in England offers one model in which the Welsh Government could choose to invest.

5 See Annex C, Recommendation 7: Innovation, Technology and Infrastructure
(http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/180116reviewen.pdf)

Pack Page 39



1. Patterns in demand for social care services for those of pension age

Across Wales, total net public expenditure on older adult (aged 65+) social care services
declined by 0.8 per cent (E4.3m in 2017-18 prices) between 2009-10 and 2016-17.° Figure 1
shows that this net decrease was led principally by regions in West Wales and the Valleys,
where spending declined by 3.7% (14.7m). Nonetheless, the revenue outturn figures
demonstrate a clear prioritisation of older adult social care services relative to most other local
service areas (see Table 1). Indeed, between 2009-10 and 2016-17, older adult social care
rose as a share of total local authority service expenditure by an average of 0.8 percentage
points across Wales (1.1 ppts in East Wales; 0.7 ppts in West Wales and the Valleys).

Figure 1. Change in net current expenditure on older adult (aged 265) social care by region,
2009-10 to 2016-17 (2017-18 prices)

West Wales & the

All-Wales East Wales Valleys
15,000
7

__ 10,000 * 5
(%]
ke 3 o
S 5,000 &
o0 1 ©
— e
~ 0 G
— * -1 (]
o oo
~ ©
S 5,000 3 T
& * 8
c 5 3
2 -10,000 a
o
- -7

-15,000 9

-20,000 -11

f change (LHA) % change (RHA)

Source: Local government revenue outturn data (available here:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-
Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority)

Given the trend in Wales’ ageing population, this slight decline in total revenue spending
meant that spending on a per head basis decreased by 14.4 per cent between 2009-10 and
2016-17, equivalent to £149 per adult aged 65 and over.” Regionally, this decline was more

6 Note that all revenue outturn figures quoted here related to older adult social care reflect 2017-18 prices and have
been adjusted to include separate funds pertaining to service strategy for all adult care services. In 2016-17 this
came to £9.5m which we then divided proportionately between older and younger adult service spending.

71n 2009-10, adults aged 65+ made up 18.0 per cent) of Wales’ population (547,597). By 2016-17, their share had
risen to 20.4 per cent (635,659).

Pack Pagé 40



pronounced in West Wales and the Valleys (16.5%; £180 per head) compared to East Wales
(9.5 %; £90 per head), although as can be seen from Figure 2, spending in the latter region
remained below the former throughout the period. In nine local authorities spending per head
declined by around a fifth or more.

Figure 2: Region specific trend in per capita (aged >65) expenditure on older adult social care,
2009-10 to 2016-17 (2017-18 prices)

1,150

3

~ 1,100

©

(]

% 1050

> \

T 1,000

@

2 950

g

2

£ 900

c

8

2 850

(]

§ 800

5

o 750

()

=

700
2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
—e—CEast Wales —m—West Wales & the Valleys =~ =——All-Wales

Source: Local government revenue outturn data (available here:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-
Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority) and population

estimates by local authority (available here: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority).

That total spending on older adult services declined over the recent period may seem
anomalous, particularly given the presumed demand pressures that accompany an ageing
population. Between 2009-10 and 2016-17, the area that saw the most significant growth
within local authorities’ broader social care budgets was looked after children, which rose by
37 per cent (E72m) in real terms, reflecting a rise in the number of children requiring care
support services annually (up 27% since 2009).8 Linked to this, one explanation might be that

service teams have switched focus over the recent period of austerity toward concentrating

8 Data available from StatsWales: https:/statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-
Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After.

Pack Page 41


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After

support on a smaller number of relatively higher needs individuals given the statutory flexibility

within which care eligibility is determined.

Both the new statutory framework brought about by the Social Services Well-being (Wales)
Act 2014 (effective April 2016), as well as the previous regulations (NHS and Community Care
Act 1990), afford councils a significant amount of discretion in determining whether an
individual’s care needs are eligible for local authority support (see the Annex). The implication
is that councils are not bound to support all adults in all circumstances. This may in turn
highlight the importance of informal networks.

As a result of this flexibility, analysing both historic and future patterns of demand may be
complicated by changes in what constitutes ‘effective demand’ (i.e. the number of pension age

adults seeking local authority support that are also deemed eligible).

Data available for the period 2009-10 to 2015-16 shows that the total number of older adults
supported by one or more kinds of local authority organised care services declined by 14.1
per cent, or 2.6 percentage points as proportion of the older adult population (Figure 3). One
explanation may be a trend towards tightening local care package eligibility criteria. As a
result, spending per service user apparently rose by 17.0 per cent across Wales (11.8% East
Wales; 18.6% West Wales and the Valleys), equivalent to £1,646 per head (£1,336 East
Wakes; £1,696 West Wales and Valleys) by 2015-16 (Figure 4).

However, newly available data showing service user frequencies produced for the first time
using the computerised Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS) in 2016-17
does cast some doubt over the accuracy of previous years’ reported figures, which appear to
show a significant downward bias.® Whether or not older adult social care spending has
become concentrated, it is apparent that predictions of increased service demand pressures
resulting from Wales’ rapidly aging population are not clearly reflected in the latest available

local government revenue outturn figures.

9 The WCCIS service provision data shows that in 2016-17 there were 62,598 older adults recorded as receiving
one or more forms of support; a figure which does not include figures for Merthyr Tydfil and Carmarthenshire
which were unable to collate data (see source: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-
Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-
agegroup). By contrast, previous year’s figures show a steady decline in provision from 2009-10 (58,657) to
2015-16 (50,386). Although a sharp rise in provision between 2015-16 and 2016-17 is feasible, the shift in trend
does suggest that data collected prior to the WCCIS system in April 2016 may be less accurate. However, so
long as any downward bias remained consistent over the period 2009-10 to 2015-16, then the general pattern
shown in Figure 4 would remain valid.

Pack Pagé 42



Figure 3: Region specific trend in adults aged >65 recorded as receiving LA organised social
care support as a proportion of the total older adult population, 2009-10 to 2015-16

13
3
a0 12
£
>\
Qo
-5911
2
—
® 9 10
N o
T o
Q
a0 © 9
T @©
v ‘o
fhe
53 8
T o
22,
o 2
v ©
o0 bo
g5 6
c
]
o
o 5
a

2009-10  2010-11  2011-12  2012-13  2013-14  2014-15  2015-16

= All-Wales  —e=—East Wales —#—\West Wales and the Valleys

Source: Adults receiving services by client category (https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-
and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-
2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)

Figure 4: Region specific trend in spending per adult aged >65 recorded as receiving social
care support, 2009-10 to 2015-16

14,000
13,000

12,000

11,000

10,000 /
—— ——

9,000

8,000
2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

—All-Wales —e=—East Wales —=—West Wales and the Valleys

Source: Adults receiving services by client category (https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-
and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-
2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)

Paék Page 43


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/Prior-to-April-2016/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-age)

We have not been able to analyse whether any changes to the way services were organised
over the period 2009-10 to 2016-17 resulted in significant efficiencies without impact on
service quality or to the well-being of those deemed ineligible for support. A recent report by
the Royal College of Occupational Therapists showed that following a review into 227 care
packages in the Cardiff area between April 2015 and March 2016, the council was able to
save £395,279 due to individual care packages being right-sized to actually better meet

service user needs.

It is not clear whether spending of income from the Welsh Government’s Integrated Care
Fund (ICF) is ultimately recorded in local government revenue outturn figures. This may affect
the trends observed.!! However, if local authorities are indeed responding to heightened
resource pressures by applying more restrictive eligibility criteria, the impact that this may be
having on the health and well-being of those deemed ineligible will be very difficult to measure
directly in Wales .

In England, the English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) — drawing on a representative
cohort of over 10,000 men and women aged =50 years and funded by the UK Government,
— contains information on the health status and support received by older people who report

difficulty with various daily activities.

Investment by the Welsh Government into representative longitudinal data sources that can
monitor the interaction between older people with varying degrees of life-limiting conditions
and local public services could significantly improve the evidence base on which both current
and future resource allocations are be made. Although the correctional National Survey for
Wales'? does contain a limited number of questions pertaining to social care services
(specifically, the subjective rating of the quality of care received by service users and their
carers), investment in longitudinal data that includes objective measures such as biomarker

data®® would allow policy makers to determine the specific patterns of support that appear to

10 http://3clwlr2j0esnltg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-
WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf

11 NHS Wales Health Boards act as a lead organisation for the ICF and paid the full funds. If a local authority
incurs a cost as part of activities associated to the aims of the fund — that is, supporting people to maintain their
independence and remain in their own home — then the health board would pass the relevant funding on to the
local authority which would appear as income from joint arrangements in the revenue outturn figures. However,
we are not aware of any source which details how much of the ICF (E60m in 2017-18) is maintained by the
Health Boards and is hence excluded form our analysis.

12 http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en
13 Biomarkers have been defined as a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of
normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention.

Examples include resting heart rate, grip strength and measures of inflammation such as C-reactive
protein (CRP).

Pack Page 44


http://3clw1r2j0esn1tg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf
http://3clw1r2j0esn1tg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en

promote healthy ageing in the Welsh population at present, from which benchmark health and

service delivery targets could be subsequently formed.

Table 1: Changes in older adult social care spending, 2009-10 to 2016-17 (2017-18 prices)

LA spending (2017-18 prices) Percentage (ppt)

2009-10 2016-17 change

All-Wales

Older adult (>65) social care

(em) 569.6 565.3 -0.8

Per capita (£) 1,040 891 -14.4
% of total service spending 9.1 9.9 0.8
East Wales

(C;I:]jr adult (>65) social care 1742 184.6 6.0

Per capita (£) 937 848 -9.5
% of total service spending 8.1 9.1 1.1
West Wales and the Valleys

(C;I:]jr adult (>65) social care 395.4 380.6 37

Per capita (£) 1,093 913 -16.5
% of total service spending 9.7 10.4 0.7

Source: Local government revenue outturn data (available here:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-
Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority) and population
estimates by local authority (available here: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority).

Pack Page 45


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority)

Summary:

¢ Net public expenditure on older adult (aged 65+) social care services declined
by 0.8 per cent (£4.3m in 2017-18 prices) between 2009-10 and 2016-17,
equivalent to 14.4 per cent per head.

e This appears to have been accompanied by a decline in the number of older
adults supported by local authorities, which may indicate a tightening of local

level eligibility criteria for support.

e The English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) provides one model in which
the Welsh Government could invest so as to monitor how the health and

wellbeing of pension age adults and those around them is effected by public

policy.

Pack Page’ 46



2. Future social care needs and related costs

As we have noted in previous work,'¥the best available evidence on the future costs of
providing adult social care in an aging Wales has been produced by the Health Foundation.
This suggests that demand for adult care (that is, care services for all individuals aged 16 and
over) should be rising by around 4.1 per cent a year from 2015 up to 2030-31 due to
demography, chronic conditions and rising costs.® Total adult social care spending came to
£1.14 billion in 2015-16 (2017-18 prices), meaning that a 4.1 per cent annual rise would see
net public spending increase by 945 million (82.7%) by 2030-31. Applying this rate of change
to older adult social care spending alone would see costs rise by £468.7 million.®

The general direction of the Health Foundation’s projection is supported by recently forecast
trends in disability and life expectancy in England and Wales up to 2025.1" According to this
research, although total life expectancy at age 65 years will increase by 1-7 years up to 2025,
life expectancy with disability will increase more in relative terms. For this group, it forecasts
an increase of roughly 15 per cent from 2015 (4:7 years) to 2025 (5-4 years) implying greater
age-specific demand pressures on older adult care services. This would compound the fiscal

pressures associated with an ageing population.

In previous work, we also showed that simply uprating older adult social care expenditure at
the local government level by the expected growth in the adult population aged 65 and over
would see expenditure rise by 24 per cent in 2020-21 relative to 2015-16 if spending per head
on older adult social were returned to pre-austerity levels in 2009-10. If we take 2016-17 as
our base year, maintaining this level of spending (£890 per older adult) over the next decade
would require an 18.0 per cent (£101m) rise in net current expenditure by 2026-27, or a 27.2
per cent (£154m) rise by 2030-31.18

14 Luchinskaya et al. (2017), ‘A delicate balance? Health and Social Care spending in Wales’, available here:
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/03/Wales-health-and-social-care-final_amended_04-
2017.pdf.

15 Watt and Roberts (2016), ‘The path to sustainability: Funding projections for the NHS in Wales to 2019/20 and
2030/31’, available here: http://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/PathToSustainability_0.pdf.

16 Author’s calculation based on local government revenue outturn figures.

17 Guzman-Castillo et al. (2017), ‘Forecasted trends in disability and life expectancy in England
and Wales up to 2025: a modelling study’, Lancet Public Health, available here:
http://www.thelancet.com/pdfs/journals/lanpub/P11S2468-2667(17)30091-9.pdf .

18 Authors calculations based on 2016-17 local government revenue outturn data and 2014-based ONS
population projections (available here:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/t
ableal5principalprojectionwalessummary).

Paék Page 47


http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/03/Wales-health-and-social-care-final_amended_04-2017.pdf
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/03/Wales-health-and-social-care-final_amended_04-2017.pdf
http://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/PathToSustainability_0.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/tablea15principalprojectionwalessummary)
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/tablea15principalprojectionwalessummary)

These projections cannot tell us much about the level of public spending required in order to
reach a specific ‘quality’ of care services or achieve specific public health outcomes in future.
For example, the Health Foundation’s projections were based on an updated version of the
Personal Social Services Research Unit's (PSSRU) aggregate long-term care projections
model adapted for the Welsh population’s age structure. The approach taken involves
simulating the impact on demand for care and support services of specified changes in
demand drivers/cost pressures or specified changes in policy. This means that the projections
reported in the Health Foundation’s paper should be treated as indications of likely future
expenditures on care and support if policies are left unchanged and drivers of demand follow
the specified trends.

In effect, such estimates only project what is required in order to maintain a specific supply of
services based on a fixed starting position, with arbitrary importance therefore placed on the
chosen base year of analysis. As noted above, investment by the Welsh Government into a
nationally representative longitudinal data source pertaining to pension age adults would
enable researchers to investigate potential funding deficits now, which would thereafter

facilitate a more ‘outcome focussed’ projection of costs in future periods.

Summary:

e The best available evidence on the future costs of providing adult social care in
Wales suggests that demand for adult care (that is, care services for all
individuals aged 16 and over) should be rising by around 4.1% a year from
2015 up to 2030-31 due to demography, chronic conditions and rising costs.

¢ Maintaining 2016-17 levels of spending per adult aged 65+ over the next

decade would require an 18.0 per cent (E101m) rise in net current expenditure
by 2026-27, or a 27.2 per cent (E154m) rise by 2030-31.

e However, these estimates only project what is required in order to maintain a

specific supply of services based on a fixed starting position and policy mix,

with arbitrary importance therefore placed on the chosen base year of analysis.

Pack Page 48



3. Fiscal levers available to the Welsh Government

Changes to the structure of council revenues since 2009-10 in Wales have reflected a
significant rebalancing of how local government is funded, which has important implications

for the long term funding of adult social care services.

Publicly funded local government services (otherwise known as net service spending or net
current expenditure), including adult social care services, are financed via three principle
streams of revenue: Welsh Government grants (the general revenue support grant, RSG, plus
hypothecated specific and special grants earmarked for particular services), council tax and
non-domestic rates (NDR).'® Table 2 shows that between 2009-10 and 2016-17, an £805
million (16.2%) reduction in Welsh Government grant support to local government prompted
a 20.6 per cent increase in total collected council tax revenues, equivalent to an additional
£246 million.

Table 2: Local government revenues by source, 2009-10 to 2016-17 (2017-18 prices)

LA spending (£m) Percentage (ppt)
2009-10 2016-17 change
All-Wales
Welsh Government grants (ex. HB)* 4975 4,170 -16.2
% of total revenues 70.2 63.6 -6.6
Council tax (collected)* 1,199 1,445 20.6
% of total revenues 16.9 220 51
NDR 913 943 33
% of total revenues 12.9 144 15
Total 7,087 6,558 -7.5

Note: *Council tax receipts are net of council tax benefit/reduction scheme which has been included
within both the 2009-10 and 2016-17 Welsh Government grant figures.

Source: Financing of gross revenue expenditure (available here:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue) and in-year council tax
collection (available here: https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-
Tax/Collection).

19 Al figures referring to Welsh Government grants exclude, for the purpose of this analysis, revenues accruing to
Welsh unitary authorities in relation to housing benefit and housing benefit administration, which is sent directly to
Welsh councils from DWP to match demand. Any additional sums spent by Welsh councils on housing benefit
and housing benefit administration over and above the amount they receive from the UK government are
included, although these figures are relatively negligible in size.

Paék Page 49


https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Collection)
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Collection)

Council tax is widely regarded as structurally regressive between households,?° and the Welsh
Government has already committed itself to making council tax more progressive 2t,possibly
by changes to the banding structure. However, with further increases to the average Band D
rate of around 4-5% expected across many councils in 2018-19,% alternative sources of

revenue might be considered by the Welsh Government

The Wales Centre Public Policy are currently undertaking research looking at the
implications of the new Welsh rates of income tax effective April 2019. Previous estimates
have indicated that changing the Welsh rates of income tax by 1p across each band would
lead to an increase in the Welsh overall resource budget of about £200 million (assuming no
behavioural response),?® although the Welsh Government has committed to maintain the
current income tax rate for the duration of the current Assembly term (until May 2021).24

A prominent alternative solution to funding adult social care through piecemeal budgetary
increments was recently outlined by Professor Gerald Holtham.?® This would involve the
creation of a funded contributory system for older people’s care in order to mitigate
demographic risk and give value to Welsh contributors through what would, in effect, be the
creation of a sovereign wealth fund for Wales. This proposal has attracted much interest as
an alternative to the current pay-as-you-go model of financing social care. Estimates as to
the amount such a fund would need to release each year in order to meet demand will

depend in part on the quality of cost projections.

The contribution from those providing informal care will be a key element in future resourcing

of social care for over 65’'s. Recent research distinguishes between informal care giving and

20 Although low-income households will be exempt from paying council tax via the CTRS, council tax is
regressive in the sense that you pay a lower percentage of property value the more valuable the property is, and
there is an upper limit on payments. See IFS (2015), ‘Little sense of direction in tax and benefit proposals’,
available here: https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/7735.

21 See p.13 of the Programme for Government (Take Wales Forward 2016-2021) document for this commitment,
available here: http://gov.wales/about/programme-for-government/?lang=en.

22 https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/how-much-every-authority-wales-13936534

23 See Luchinskaya et al. (2017), ‘Welsh Government Budgetary Trade-offs: Looking Forward to 2021-22’,
available here: http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/09/Looking-Forward-Report-Final-
Updated.pdf

24 Welsh Government. (2017a). Welsh rates of income tax FAQs. Retrieved from:
http://gov.wales/docs/caecd/publications/171204-income-tax-fags-en.pdf

25 Holtham (2017), ‘The promise of social care: Why Wales needs a community insurance fund and how to

organise’, available here: http://welsheconomicchallenge.com/wp-content/uploads/WNIfund-Proposal-Social-
care.pdf

Pack Page 50


https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/7735
http://gov.wales/about/programme-for-government/?lang=en
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/how-much-every-authority-wales-13936534
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/09/Looking-Forward-Report-Final-Updated.pdf
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/files/2017/09/Looking-Forward-Report-Final-Updated.pdf

‘intensive’ informal care giving (defined as 11+ hours per week). It concludes that ‘intensive’
informal care giving is associated with lower levels of mental well-being, particularly among
female ‘intensive’ caregivers on whom a disproportionate share of ‘intensive’ caregiving falls.
The UK has been shown to rank 16™ highest out of twenty European nations surveyed in
terms of the prevalence of ‘intensive’ informal care giving, according data from the European
Social Survey? (Round 7, collected 2014).%’

This research found that countries with high overall numbers of informal caregivers tend to
have lower numbers of intensive caregivers (for example, Nordic countries), which suggests
that generous welfare states stimulate taking up a caring role, while at the same time taking
away the necessity of intensive caring.

We suggest that any projection of the future resource needed to fund adult social care
should take account of the pressures on those providing intensive informal care and the
support they require. Again, such estimates would require the facility of new data able to
capture the extent of informal care activity in Wales and its impact longitudinally on the

health and well-being of care recipients and providers.

26 The European Social Survey (Round 7) offers information on 37 623 respondents from 22 national random
samples collected through face-to-face interviews. Complete information on the survey, including questionnaires,
is available from http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org.

27 \erbakel et al. (2017), ‘Informal care in Europe: findings from the European Social Survey (2014) special module
on the social determinants of health’, European Journal of Public Health, available here:
https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/27/suppl_1/90/3045950.

Paék Page 51


http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/
https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/27/suppl_1/90/3045950

Summary:

The UK has some of the highest rates of ‘intensive’ informal caregiving in
Europe (defined as 11+ hours of care per week), which is associated with
lower levels of mental well-being. New data is required to evidence possible
policy responses, from which future cost projections and fiscal lever options

can be decided.

Meeting projected demand pressures on older adult social care services
should consider the effects of raising the additional resource locally via council
tax versus at the Welsh Government level through use of Wales’ new income

tax powers.

A funded contributory system of financing older adult care represents a
promising alterative to the current pay-as-you-go model in that it promotes

intergenerational fairness and value for money.

Pack Page 52




Annex A

Note on care assessments

Section 47(1) (b) of the 1990 Act placed a duty on local authorities to decide whether, following
assessment, an adult’s needs required a service to be provided, with any such determination
made through reference to statutory guidance.?® According to the guidance document (see
paragraph 5.15), it was for individual local authorities to draw the line of eligibility according to
their own local circumstances, albeit within a framework whereby eligibility is set at one of four
bands: low, moderate, substantial or critical.?® A similar discretion has been maintained by the
implementing regulations of the 2014 Act (see the Care and Support (Eligibility) (Wales)
Regulations 2015, regulations 3(a)-(d)). These regulations create what has been dubbed the
‘can and can only’ criteria for eligibility, whereby an adult seeking care support is assessed to
see if their needs can be sufficiently met by support coordinated by themselves, their family

or carer, or by community-based services.*°

While some commentators have noted that this criteria is conceptually flawed to the extent
that it confuses ‘eligible need’ with access to support that may be leveraged in order to meet
said need,* it is clear that councils will not be duty bound to provide support to adults in all
instances given the complex calculus involved in the ‘can and can only’ test, which appears to

place emphasis on informal support networks.

28 Creating a Unified and Fair System for Assessing and Managing Care — Welsh Assembly Government (2002),
available here: http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%?20-
%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%?20care.p
df

29 CSSIW (2010), ‘National Review of Access and Eligibility in Adults’ Social Care - Overview Report’, available
here: http://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/docs/cssiw/report/100927eligibilityen.pdf.

30 http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2015/05/11/welsh-government-unveils-can-can-eligibility-test-social-care/
http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/consultation/141104Pt3and4execsummaryen.pdf

31Page 15.
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjl05i86
ILZAhVCLFAKHUIyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-
content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-
25.pdf&usg=A0vVawl7XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ

Pack Page 53


http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/docs/cssiw/report/100927eligibilityen.pdf
http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2015/05/11/welsh-government-unveils-can-can-eligibility-test-social-care/
http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/consultation/141104Pt3and4execsummaryen.pdf
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ

References

Adam, S et al. (2015). Little sense of direction in tax and benefit proposals. Institute for

Fiscal Studies press release. Retrieved from: https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/7735

Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (2010). ‘National Review of Access and
Eligibility in Adults’ Social Care - Overview Report’. Retrieved from:
http://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/docs/cssiw/report/100927eligibilityen. pdf

Carter, R (2015). CommunityCare. Retrieved from:
http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2015/05/11/welsh-government-unveils-can-can-eligibility-
test-social-care/

Clement L (2017). The Social Services & Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: An overview.
Retrieved from:
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&v
ed=0ahUKEw;jl05i861LZAhVCLFAKHUIyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukecle
ments.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-
25.pdf&usg=A0VWawl7XHf6ZZE6_fGZEKCwvqyQ.

Guzman-Castillo, M et al (May 2017). Forecasted trends in disability and life expectancy
in England and Wales up to 2025: a modelling study. The Lancet, Public Health.

http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/Pl1S2468-2667(17)30091-9/fulltext.

Holtham, G (2017). ‘The promise of social care: Why Wales needs a community
insurance fund and how to organise’. Retrieved from:

http://welsheconomicchallenge.com/wp-content/uploads/WNIfund-Proposal-Social-care.pdf

Luchinskaya, D., Ogle, J., and Trickey, M. (2017). A delicate balance? Health & Social
Care spending in Wales. Wales Public Services 2025. Retrieved from:
http://www.walespublicservices2025.0rg.uk/2017/03/08/a-delicate-balance-health-social-

care-spending-in-wales/

Luchinskaya, D et al (2017). Welsh Government Budgetary Trade-offs: Looking Forward
to 2021-22. Wales Public Services 2025 & Wales Governance Centre. Retrieved from:
http:/www.walespublicservices2025.0rg.uk/2017/09/21/welsh-government-budgetary-trade-
offs-looking-forward-to-2021-22/

Office for Budgetary Responsibility. (2017d). Fiscal sustainability report. January 2017.
Retrieved from: http://cdn.budgetresponsibility.org.uk/FSR_Jan17.pdf

Pack Pageé 54


https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/7735
http://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/docs/cssiw/report/100927eligibilityen.pdf
http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2015/05/11/welsh-government-unveils-can-can-eligibility-test-social-care/
http://www.communitycare.co.uk/2015/05/11/welsh-government-unveils-can-can-eligibility-test-social-care/
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=4&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjIo5i86ILZAhVCLFAKHUlyDHIQFgg7MAM&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.lukeclements.co.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2017%2F09%2FWales-SS-Well-being-Act-25.pdf&usg=AOvVaw17XHf6ZZE6_fGzEKCwvqyQ
http://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpub/article/PIIS2468-2667(17)30091-9/fulltext
http://welsheconomicchallenge.com/wp-content/uploads/WNIfund-Proposal-Social-care.pdf
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/2017/03/08/a-delicate-balance-health-social-care-spending-in-wales/
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/2017/03/08/a-delicate-balance-health-social-care-spending-in-wales/
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/2017/09/21/welsh-government-budgetary-trade-offs-looking-forward-to-2021-22/
http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/2017/09/21/welsh-government-budgetary-trade-offs-looking-forward-to-2021-22/
http://cdn.budgetresponsibility.org.uk/FSR_Jan17.pdf

Office for National Statistics (2017). Table A1-5, Principal projection - Wales summary.
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationp

rojections/datasets/tableal5principalprojectionwalessummary

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (July 2017). Living, not EXxisting: Putting
prevention at the heart of care for older people in Wales.
http://3clwlr2j0esnltg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-
content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf

StatsWales (2017). Revenue outturn expenditure, by authority.
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-
Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/RevenueOutturnExpenditure-by-Authority.

StatsWales (2017). Council tax dwellings, by local authority and CT1 row description
(number of dwellings). https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-
Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Dwellings/counciltaxdwellings-by-localauthority-
ctlrowdescription.

StatsWales (2017). Council tax levels by billing authority and band (£).
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-

Tax/Levels/counciltaxlevels-by-billingauthority-band.

StatsWales. (2016). Revenue outturn expenditure, by authority. Retrieved from:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-

Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority

StatsWales. (2016). Population estimates, by authority. Retrieved from:
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-

Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority
StatsWales. (2016). Children looked after, by authority.

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-
Services/Children-Looked-After

StatsWales. (2016). Adults receiving services by local authority, client category and age
group.
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-

Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-

agegroup

Pack Page 55


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/tablea15principalprojectionwalessummary
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/tablea15principalprojectionwalessummary
http://3clw1r2j0esn1tg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf
http://3clw1r2j0esn1tg2ng3xziww.wpengine.netdna-cdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/ILSM-Phase-II-WELSH-ENGLISH.pdf
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/RevenueOutturnExpenditure-by-Authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/RevenueOutturnExpenditure-by-Authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Dwellings/counciltaxdwellings-by-localauthority-ct1rowdescription
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Dwellings/counciltaxdwellings-by-localauthority-ct1rowdescription
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Dwellings/counciltaxdwellings-by-localauthority-ct1rowdescription
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Levels/counciltaxlevels-by-billingauthority-band
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Council-Tax/Levels/counciltaxlevels-by-billingauthority-band
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Local-Government/Finance/Revenue/Outturn/revenueoutturnexpenditure-by-authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-After
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-agegroup
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-agegroup
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Adult-Services/Service-Provision/adultsreceivingservices-by-localauthority-clientcategory-agegroup

The European Social Survey (Round 7). Retrieved from:

http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org

The Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care in Wales. (Jan 2018). A Revolution
from Within: Transforming Health and Care in Wales. Final Report.
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/180116reviewen.pdf.

Verbakel, E, et al. (2017). ‘Informal care in Europe: findings from the European Social
Survey (2014) special module on the social determinants of health’. European Journal
of Public Health. Retrieved from:
https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/27/suppl_1/90/3045950

Watt, T. and Roberts, A. (October 2016). The path to sustainability: Funding projections
for the NHS in Wales to 2019/20 and 2030/31. The Health Foundation. Retrieved from:
http://www.health.org.uk/publication/path-sustainability

Wales online (2017). How much every authority in Wales wants to increase council tax
by. Retrieved from: https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/how-much-every-
authority-wales-13936534

Welsh Assembly Government (2002). Creating a Unified and Fair System for Assessing
and Managing Care. Retrieved from: —available here:
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-
%20creating%20a%?20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20

managing%20care.pdf

Welsh Government (2017). Local authority revenue and capital outturn expenditure 2016-
2017. http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-revenue-capital-outturn-

expenditure/?lang=en.

Welsh Government (2015). Draft Budget 2016-2017.
http://gov.wales/docs/caecd/publications/151208-budget-narrative-eng.pdf.

Welsh Government (2017). Non-Domestic (business) Rates.

http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/businessrates/?lang=en.

Welsh Government (2017). Welsh Local Government Revenue Settlement 2017-2018.
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/settlement/lg-settlement-2017-
18/green-book-2017-18/?lang=en.

Welsh Government (2017). National Survey for Wales. http://gov.wales/statistics-and-

research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en

Pack Pagé 56


http://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/180116reviewen.pdf
https://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/27/suppl_1/90/3045950
http://www.health.org.uk/publication/path-sustainability
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/how-much-every-authority-wales-13936534
https://www.walesonline.co.uk/news/wales-news/how-much-every-authority-wales-13936534
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/829/wag%20-%20creating%20a%20unified%20and%20fair%20system%20for%20assessing%20and%20managing%20care.pdf
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-revenue-capital-outturn-expenditure/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/local-authority-revenue-capital-outturn-expenditure/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/caecd/publications/151208-budget-narrative-eng.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/businessrates/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/settlement/lg-settlement-2017-18/green-book-2017-18/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/localgovernment/finandfunding/settlement/lg-settlement-2017-18/green-book-2017-18/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en
http://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/national-survey/?tab=el_home&topic=nhs_social_care&lang=en

Welsh Government (2017). Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021.
http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/160920-taking-wales-forward-en.pdf

Welsh Government. (2017a). Welsh rates of income tax FAQs. Retrieved from:

http://gov.wales/funding/fiscalreform/welsh-taxes/income-tax/?lang=en

Welsh Government (2014). Executive Summary. Implementation of the Social Services
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. Retrieved from:
http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/consultation/141104Pt3and4execsummaryen.pdf

Pack Page 57


http://gov.wales/docs/strategies/160920-taking-wales-forward-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/funding/fiscalreform/welsh-taxes/income-tax/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/consultation/141104Pt3and4execsummaryen.pdf

Wales Public Services 2025

The Wales Public Services 2025 Programme is investigating the long-term financial,
demographic and demand pressures confronting public services in Wales and possible
responses. Hosted by Cardiff Business School and independent, the Programme is a unique
partnership between Cardiff University and five national bodies in Wales: the Welsh Local
Government Association, SOLACE Wales, the Welsh NHS Confederation, the Wales Council
for Voluntary Action and Community Housing Cymru.

Our goal is to create a civic space in which public servants, civil society, politicians and people
across Wales can engage in open, informed, radical debate on how our public services need
to change and what we need to do to get there.

Established in 2012, the Programme works with national bodies, research bodies and think
tanks across the UK, including the Institute for Fiscal Studies, the Health Foundation, the
Public Policy Institute for Wales, Wales Local Government Association, the Wales Audit Office

and others.

For further information please visit our website at www.walespublicservices2025.0rg.uk

Pack Page 58


http://www.walespublicservices2025.org.uk/

By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 59



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a I te m 6

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 73



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 75



Y Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
FIN(5)-07-18 P6

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid

Ymchwiliad i'r tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r
Bwrdd Taliadau

Ymatebion i’r Ymgynghoriad
Chwefror 2018

Finance Committee

Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination
Underspend

Consultation Responses
February 2018

Pack Page 87


http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=19019

*Ar gael yn Gymraeg /Available in Welsh

RBU 01 | Awdurdod Taliadau Seland Newydd New Zealand Remuneration Authority
RBU 02 | Assemblée Nationale Assemblée Nationale
RBU 03* | Bwrdd Taliadau Remuneration Board
RBU 04 | Bwrdd Taliadau Riksdag Riksdag Remunerations Board
RBU 05 | Audit Scotland Audit Scotland
RBU 06* | Comisiwn y Cynulliad Assembly Commission
RBU 07 | Gweinyddiaeth Riksdag Sweden Swedish Riksdag Administration
RBU 08 | Ty’r Cyffredin House of Commons
RBU 09* | Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru Auditor General for Wales
RBU 10 | Senedd Seland Newydd New Zealand Parliament
RBU 11* | Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid Cabinet Secretary for Finance
RBU 12 | Senedd yr Alban The Scottish Parliament
RBU 13 | Cynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon Northern Ireland Assembly
RBU 14 | Awdurdod Safonau Seneddol Independent Parliamentary Standards
Annibynnol Authority
Swyddfa Archwilio Gogledd Iwerddon Northern Ireland Audit Office
RBU 15
Y Swyddfa Archwilio Genedlaethol National Audit Office
RBU 16

Pack Page 88




m RemunerationAuthority

[BY EMAIL]

12 December 2017

Mr Simon Thomas

Chair

Finance Committee

National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff CF99 1NA

WALES

Dear Mr Thomas
National Assembly for Wales’s Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

The Remuneration Authority (the Authority) has asked me to reply to your letter of 8 December 2017
regarding the Finance Committee of the National Assembly of Wales inquiry to establish how other
parliaments’ budget for expenditure related to members’ pay and allowances.

New Zealand members of Parliament salaries, superannuation, allowances, and accommodation
services are determined by the Authority, which is an independent statutory board established under
the Remuneration Act 1977.

The Authority is also responsible for determining the remuneration (sometimes including fees,
allowances, superannuation and annuities) for a wide range of senior public office holders within
New Zealand including the Governor-General, judicial officers, elected members of local authorities
and a variety of statutory officers. Please see our website for further information on our work:
http://remauthority.govt.nz/ .

Two govemnment departments are responsible for the administration of the Authority determinations
which cover members of Parliament, Ministers and other members of the Executive. These
departments are responsible for the appropriations, budgets and expenditure related to members’
pay and allowance, as follows:

e Department of Internal Affairs is responsible for the payment of salaries and allowances
covering the Executive Council and members of the Executive (all Ministers of the Crown and
Parliamentary Under-Secretaries).

e Parliamentary Service is responsible for the payment of salaries and allowances for members
of Parliament who are neither Ministers nor Parliamentary Under-Secretaries.

Accordingly, the above two departments are best placed to address the issues you have
raised in your letter. Here are their contact details:

Remuneration Authority

PO Box 10084, The Terfa1 @IRAQ@48Yew zealand
Telephone 04 499 3068 Email info@remauthority.govt.nz Website www.remauthority.govt.nz



Department of Internal Affairs

Mr Colin MacDonald

Chief Executive

Department of Internal Affairs
PO Box 805

Wellington 6140

email: colin.macdonald@dia.govt.nz

Parliamentary Service

Mr David Stevenson
General Manager
Parliamentary Service
Parliament Buildings
Private Bag 18041
WELLINGTON 6160

email: david.stevenson@parliament.govt.nz

Yours sincerely

W=

Mike Kunz
Director — Office of the Remuneration Authority

Pack Page 90



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 02 Assemblée Nationale

LLIRREL

ASSEMBLEE REPUBLIQUE FRANCAISE
N AT l ONALE LIBERTE-EGALITE-FRATERNITE

SERVICE DES AFFAIRES EUROPEENNES
DIVISION DES ETUDES EUROPEENNES ET DU DROIT COMPARE

Paris, le 7 février 2018

Remuneration Board

1 — How your Assembly commission forecasts its budget for Remuneration Board determinations?

At the French Assemblée nationale there is no existing remuneration board which deals with the
parliamentary allowance. This allowance is indexed to the salary of the highest ranking state civil
servants. It is equal to the mean of the lowest and highest salary of civil servants in the category “hors
¢chelle” (highest level).

2 — Which way the assembly commission provides clear and transparent information?

The accounts of the French Assemblée nationale are certified every year by the Court of auditors (Cour
des comptes).

Those accounts are published and can be consulted on our website.
http://wwwz2.assemblee-nationale.fr/decouvrir-l1-assemblee/les-comptes-de-1-assemblee-nationale

Pack Page 91

ADRESSE POSTALE : 126, RUE DE L'UNIVERSITE — 75355 PARIS O7 SP — TEL. © (33.1) 40 63 43 70 OU 43 50 — TELECOPIE (FAX) : (33.1) 40 63 43 90


http://www2.assemblee-nationale.fr/decouvrir-l-assemblee/les-comptes-de-l-assemblee-nationale

Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 03 Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board

BWRDD TALIADA
REMUNERATION BOARD

Simon Thomas AM
Chair, Finance Committee

22 January 2018

Dear Simon

Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

Thank you for your letter dated 8 December 2017, and for drawing the
Remuneration Board’s attention to the short inquiry the Finance Committee are
currently undertaking to establish how other parliaments, within the UK and more
widely, budget for expenditure related to Members’ pay and allowances.

The Finance Committee will be aware the Remuneration Board functions, as set
is to determine the level of remuneration and system of financial support for
Assembly Members which enables them to fulfil their roles. It is the role of the
Assembly Commission to ensure the budget for the Remuneration Board is
sufficient to meet all obligations as set out in the Determination.

In certain circumstances the underspend is used for unforeseen

circumstances. Examples of these circumstances would be the costs to provide
additional security measures for Members following the tragic murder of Jo Cox
MP and decisions taken on individual Members’ circumstances which require the
Board to use its exceptional powers. These decisions can be taken by the Board,
when necessary, without recourse to the Assembly Commission seeking additional

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1NA Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1NA
Taliadau@cynulliad.cymru Remuneration@assembly.wales

0300 200 6565 Pagls hhage92


mailto:Taliadau@cynulliad.cymru
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2010/4/contents

BWRDD TALIADAU
REMUNERATION BOARD

funds. This protects the Board’s independence and confidentiality of the
Members.

Should the budget not be fully utilised by Members it is the Commission’s role to
determine how to allocate any related underspend. Therefore it would be
inappropriate for the Board to comment how the Commission allocates the
potential underspend.

We look forward to the receiving the outcome of the inquiry in due course.

Best wishes,

A7l S
L)/ fiftaed

Dame Dawn Primarolo

Chair, Remuneration Board
Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg.

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English.

Pack Page 93



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 04 Bwrdd Taliadau Riksdag | Riksdag Remunerations Board

RIKSDAG 2018-01-26
REMUNERATIONS
BOARD Dnr 45/2017

Finance Committee
National assembly of Wales

The Riksdag Remunerations Board is an independent body. The role of the Board is to reach
decisions on matters concerning benefits for members of the Riksdag. The Board is not
responsible for budgetary issues. Accordingly the Board does not make any figures on the
costs following the Boards decisions.

One of the main tasks for the Riksdag Remunerations Board is — inter alia — to decide the size
of the monthly pay for members of the Riksdag. Decisions are reached every year. There are
no specific rules to be followed by the Board when the amount is decided. However the
annual decisions are based mainly on the general development of salaries in Sweden. The
amount is the same for every member. Chairmen and vice chairmen of standing committees
receive an additional amount according to regulations laid down in law.

The Board also decides the size and time of the economic benefits that every member of the
Riksdag is entitled to when leaving the assignment. Such decisions are reached when a
member is leaving the assignment. This mainly occurs after elections and — to some extent —
between elections if a member is granted leave. These decisions follow quite detailed
provisions laid down in law.

Further information on how the budget for expenditure related to members pay and pensions
may be given by the Riksdag Administration.

Sven Johannisson
Reporting clerk

Pack Page 94



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 05 Audit Scotland

4th Floor T: 0131 625 1500
102 West Port E: info@audit-scotland.gov.uk
Edinburgh EH3 9DN www.audit-scotland.gov.uk AUD I TOR GEN ERA[— ¢

Mr Simon Thomas AM 30 January 2018
National Assembly for Wales

Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1INA

Dear Simon

National Assembly for Wales's Remuneration Board's Determination Underspend.

Thank you for your letter of 8 December 2017 requesting information on how the Scottish Parliament
Corporate Body (SPCB) budgets for expenditure related to members' pay and allowances.

In line with the Code of Audit Practice and the wider audit dimensions, we review the financial
management of audited bodies and referred to this in our Annual Audit Report on the 2016/17 audit of
the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body (2016/17 annual audit report.)

Annual budget process

The SPCB must comply with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 which
provides that expenditure by the Scottish Administration and other bodies funded directly by the
Scottish Consolidated Fund must be authorised on an annual basis by the Budget Act.

The SPCB's budget "top slices" the Scottish Consolidated Fund and therefore reduces the total
amount of budget available to Scottish Ministers. The SPCB prepares an annual budget submission
for approval by the Finance and Constitution Committee of the Scottish Parliament. Following
Parliamentary approval, the SPCB budget is then published within the Budget Act. The SPCB cannot
exceed the level of income and expenditure approved by the Budget Act.

Budget forecasts

There is a set basis for the calculation of MSPs’ annual pay budget. This is calculated on the basis
that MSP pay will be uprated annually on 1 April by a mechanism which links MSP salaries to levels
of public sector pay rises in Scotland (the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings).

The annual budget for members' expenses and support costs such as office costs, staffing and
accommodation reflect the limits set by the Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme set up by
the Resolution of the Parliament dated 12 June 2008 (last revised on 15 March 2016). It is assumed
that not all Members will claim the full entitlement every year, with estimates based on the experience
of the scheme to date and trends from previous years.

Pack Page 95


http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/uploads/docs/report/2016/code_audit_practice_16.pdf
http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/scottish-parliamentary-corporate-body-annual-audit-report-201617

Reporting budget underspends

Performance against budgets is monitored throughout the year. The Corporate Body receives
Finance Reports which report actual spend against year to date budgets for members' costs analysed
across the headings of MSP and Officeholders Pay, MSP Expenses and Pay Assistance. These
reports are public documents and are available to access from the Parliament's website.

In addition basic information on budget underspends is provided in the SPCB’s annual report and
accounts. In 2016/17, the SPCB included an explanation for the total budget underspend in the notes
to the accounts, including an outline of the reason for the budget underspend against Members
expenses.

There is more detailed information included on individual MSPs' expenses on the Scottish
Parliament’s website. This information can be broken down by monthly periods, allowance and
expenditure types. However, it does not contain an assessment against the budget on either an
individual or total basis.

Our Annual Audit Report on the 2016/17 Audit of the SPCB included a recommendation to include
more details of the main categories of expenditure on Members costs in the annual report and
accounts. We will follow up the action taken by management on this issue as part of our 2017/18
audit.

Utilising budget underspends

The SPCB can apply budget underspends to fund other SPCB projects without the formal approval of
the Scottish Parliament's Finance and Constitution Committee. The reallocation of budgets across
expenditure lines is approved by the SPCB's Strategic Resources Board, made up from members of
the senior management team. This approach also applies to budget underspends against member
costs. Any budget underspends remaining at the year end cannot be carried forward

I trust that you will find this information helpful to your inquiry.

If you require any further information please contact Elaine Barrowman, Senior Audit Manager on
0131 625 1922 or ebarrowman@audit-scotland.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Caroline Gardner
Auditor General for Scotland

Pack Page 96


mailto:ebarrowman@audit-scotland.gov.uk

Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
Cynulliad M%QMiwﬁynulliad | Assembly Commission
Comisiwn y Cynulliad
National Assembly for Wales
Assembly Commission

Simon Thomas AM

Chair of Finance Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Ty Hywel

Cardiff Bay

CF99 1NA

5 February 2017

Dear Simon

| am writing further to your letter of 8 December 2017 regarding your
Committee’s Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination underspend. We
note the Committee’s terms of reference for this inquiry and in response we are
providing you with a paper (attached), which hopefully addresses the areas of

inquiry relevant to the Commission.

Thank you also, for the invitation to a meeting of the Committee in March, which
we would be happy to attend to discuss the issues included within the terms of
reference and our response. As ever, if there is any further information your

Committee would like, please let me know.

Yours sincerely

Suzy Davies

cc Assembly Commissioners, Manon Antoniazzi, Nia Morgan

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales

Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 TNA Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 TNA
SulafaThomas@cynulliad.cymru SulafaThomas@assemblywales
www.cynulliad.cymru Rack-Rage-97

0300 200 6227 0300 200 6227



Finance Committee Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination

Underspend

How the Assembly Commission forecasts its budget for Remuneration Board

determinations

The Remuneration Board is independent of the Assembly and Assembly
Commission. The National Assembly for Wales (Remuneration) Measure 2010
precludes the Assembly or Assembly Commission from subjecting the Board to
any control in the exercise of its functions. The Assembly Commission's priority is
to ensure that it is in a position to meet all payments and reimbursement of costs

to which Members are entitled under the Determination.

The Board may only make one Determination per Assembly for the payment of
salaries for Members, these are therefore relatively simple to forecast, subject to
the annual uprating. With respect to other aspects, the Board undertakes an
annual review of all allowances. It may from time to time, undertake more in-
depth reviews of certain aspects of the Determination, which may result in small

changes in the budget required for the Determination.

The Assembly Commission forecasts its budget for the Remuneration Board's
determination by estimating the cost of fulfilling its obligation under the most
recent Determination, by understanding the work programme of the Board for the
following financial year, and through discussions with officials supporting the

Board.

This does not cover estimates for the costs of the Assembly Commission’s
contribution to the Members’ pension scheme, these are determined by the

scheme actuary as explained below.

Pack Page 98




The forecast for 2018-19 (£16.201million) was estimated as follows:

Analysis of ‘Members’ salaries and related costs’*

Table 1 (9 in Budget) 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Budget Budget Budget Budget

£’000 £°000 £000 £000

Assembly Members’ Salary and £5,725 £6,140 £6,269 £6,401
on-costs (i)

Assembly Members’ Support

£8,110 £8,365 £8,545 £8,729
Staff Salaries and on-costs (ii)
Allowances and Office Costs (iii) £1,697 £1,696 £1,724 £1,754
Total £15,532 £16,201 £16,538 £16,884

*Extract from the final laid Assembly Commission Budget 2018-19.
i) Assembly Members’ salary and on-costs (£6.140million)

In 2016-17, the Remuneration Board Determination set the basic salary for
Assembly Members at £64,000 to be uprated each year in line with average
earnings in Wales as measured in the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE).
For 2017-18, this resulted in an increase of 2.1%. This same annual percentage
increase, 2.1%, has been assumed to apply to 2018-19 and reflected in the laid
budget. The latest ASHE figures show a 2.3% increase in average earnings, actual

salaries in 2018-19 are therefore likely to be in excess of the budgeted figures.

The on-costs associated with the Members’ salaries include National Insurance,
Employer Pension contributions and the Apprenticeship Levy, which was
introduced as a 0.5% charge on all payrolls, in excess of £3m (less a £15k

allowance) per annum, from 2017-18.

Pack Page 99




Also included are the additional salaries paid to Members holding offices carrying
significant extra responsibilities, such as Ministers, the Llywydd and committee
chairs, these are set out on page 10 of the 2017-18 Determination. It has been
assumed for 2018-19 that the Counsel General continues to be an elected
Assembly Member. The impact of two new Deputy Ministers, appointed in
November 2017, is not reflected in the 2018-19 laid budget.

The contribution percentage charge for the pension scheme is set by the pension
scheme actuary. In the case of the Commission, actuarial services are provided by
the Government’s Actuarial Department (GAD). The April 2017 valuation of the
pension scheme has resulted in the need to increase the pension contribution
from 15.6% to 20.8% to avoid the fund going into a deficit position. This has
increased the cost by £240k for the year, assuming that Members receive the
same salary increase in 2018-19 as they did in 2017-18. This pension

contribution increase is reflected in the 2018-19 budget.
Factors that may impact on this element of the budget:
e ASHE figures, when published, are in excess of the budgeted increase.

e A Counsel General is appointed who is not an AM (as happened in May
2011).

e Additional or more costly positions, which attract an additional salary, are
created such as further Cabinet Secretary (rather than Deputy Minister) or

committee chair posts.

e Changes to on-costs, outside of the control of the Commission e.g. the

Apprentices Levy, changes to NI and pension contributions.

There is no provision for these changes or additional payments in the 2018-19

budget.

Pack Page 100




ii) Assembly Members’ support staff salaries, support for political parties

and on-costs (£8.365million)

The Remuneration Board Determination sets out the funding available (up to
£96,995 per Member per annum in 2017-18) for Members to employ up to three
full-time equivalent staff to support them in all aspects of their role. This was
increased by 2.1% in 2017-18 as part of the annual review of staff salaries. The
same increase applied to the sum available to support all political parties, which is

mainly used to employ staff, resulting in £929,110 in 2017-18.

The Remuneration Board has begun a review of staffing support for Members
including the adequacy of the level of support provided to Members; the flexibility
and prescriptiveness of the current support system for Members; and the
suitability of the current terms and conditions of support staff. The findings of the
review may have a financial impact in 2018-19 but will not report until autumn
2018. A 3% increase in the Support Staff budget has been estimated for 2018-19

to allow for a potential increase over and above that applied to Members’ salaries.

Factors that may impact on this element of the budget:

e The Remuneration Board review results in changes amounting to a greater
than 3% increase in the support staff and support for political parties'

budgets.

e The budget for Assembly Members’ support staff salaries and on-costs
does not provide for any unexpected costs such as redundancy payments

and death-in-service payments, both of which were payable in 2017-18.

e The budget for Assembly Members’ support staff salaries and on-costs
does not provide for any unexpected costs such as maternity or long term

sickness payments.

There is no provision for these types of payments in the 2018-19 budget.

Z

Pack Page 101




iii)  Allowances and Office costs (£1.696million)

The office costs budget and residential accommodation expenditure, are reviewed
annually and adjusted as necessary. For the purpose of estimating a budget for
2018-19, an inflationary uplift only has been assumed (1.56%). This budget line

also includes overnight stays, a policy and research fund and travel costs.
Factors that may impact on this element of the budget:

e Unexpected additional costs may arise within this office costs line e.g. the
security improvement fund. These additional amounts may need to be
funded at short notice and are beyond those originally foreseen in the

Determination office costs budget.

Other consideration:

The allowance and office costs budget covers office costs and other items as set
out within the Determination. The budget does not however cover all office
related costs incurred by Members. The Commission, out of its own budget,
provides additional office cost support to Members. The Commission also absorbs
all costs associated with the independent Remuneration Board. These costs are

not funded by the Determination.

Pack Page 102




The following amounts are included within the Commission operational budget.

2017-18 2018-19

Forecast Budget
Members’ stationery £60,041 £61,000
Members’ printing £119,191 £120,000
Members’ training £144,987 £145,000
Remuneration Board Costs £63,839 £68,000
Other Expenses e.g. international travel £67,046 £76,000
Total £455,104 £470,000

These costs total £470k, all of which are funded from the Commission operational

budget. Although a budget is set by the Commission for these additional items,

directly associated with and driven by Members, unlike the Determination spend,

there is no set limit on how much each Assembly Member can call upon these

services. The amount incurred by Members can vary significantly.

An increase in Remuneration Board expenditure could see this budget, set by the

Commission, being exceeded. Under the National Assembly for Wales

(Remuneration) Measure 2010, the Commission must provide the Board with such

administrative support as the Board reasonably requires to enable it to discharge

its functions. The Measure precludes the Assembly or Assembly Commission to

subject the Board to any control in the exercise of its functions. The amount that

the Remuneration Board therefore could incur on special advisers or consultation

exercises during a financial year may go beyond the forecasted budget.

Pack Page 103




Whether the way in which the Assembly Commission provides information on the

underspend is clear and transparent

In the 2018-19 budget document, scrutinised by this Committee in October 2017
and laid before the Assembly in November 2017, the Commission provides clear
and transparent information on the size and utilisation of any underspend arising

from the Remuneration Board’s Determination budget.

The 2018-19 budget document contains information on the estimated amount of
the underspend anticipated for 2018-19 (£600k) and contains detail on the
investment priorities for 2018-19. The budget document clarifies that any
underspend that becomes available, contributes to the Commission investment
fund and will be utilised on clearly defined priority projects, as set out within the

budget document.

The Commission has also been clear and transparent on its use of the
Remuneration Board’s Determination budget underspend during 2016-17 and
2017-18, providing information relating to the likely Remuneration Board’s
Determination underspend for both years to the Committee, as requested, in
letters dated 28 March 2017 and 21 December 2017.

The following information (table 3), is an extract from the letter sent to the
Committee on 21 December 2017, and provides information on the anticipated
investment fund for 2017-18 and 2018-19 and the contribution anticipated from
the Remuneration Board’s Determination budget line.

Pack Page 104




£°000 £°000

2017-18 2018-19

Opening Investment Fund £850 -
Capital Budget £500 £500
Total Investment fund within the core £1,350 £500

Commission budget for priority/essential items

Estimated funds becoming available from
underspends within:

- Operational Budgets £500 £800
- Remuneration Board Determination Budget £1,000 £600
Total estimated funding released/available for £2,850 £1,900

investment priorities

The Commission will continue to set out each year, in its final budget document,
the expected amount that will remain unutilised from the Remuneration Board’s
Determination Budget. This will ensure transparency where the budget is set at
100% and flexibility to accommodate unexpected items of expenditure under the

Determination.

The Commission will, as it did last year, review the presentation of the budget and
the amount requested within the Determination budget line at its April meeting.
This is to ensure that it remains the most transparent and flexible mechanism and
presentation to address the requirements of the Remuneration Board’s

Determination.

> Z

Pack Page 105




In addition, transparency will continue to be ensured as our annual report and
accounts document, audited by the WAO, will also provide full details of our
expenditure against the Remuneration Board’s Determination budget for each

financial year.

How the Assembly Commission decides to utilise the underspend after meeting

the Remuneration Board’s determinations.
Meeting the Determination

As noted above, the Assembly Commission's priority is to ensure that it is in a
position to meet all payments and reimbursement of costs to which Members are
entitled under the Determination. The Commission monitors the payments made
under the Determination throughout the year to ensure there is sufficient funding

to reimburse all costs until the end of the financial year.

This forecasting provides an estimate of the likely underspend or shortfall to be
expected at the end of the financial year. During the year, an assessment is made
as to the certainty of the estimate and whether it is prudent to use any of the
projected underspend on priority investment projects. This is achieved with
regular communication with Members’ Business Services (MBS) who provide
forecasts of Member expenditure along with explanations of significant variances
in spending trends. MBS also ensure the forecast is updated regularly to reflect

additional items not included in the budget, as soon as they arise.

At no point during the financial year will the Commission have “met” the
Determination. The actual funding required by the Determination will not be
known with certainty until three weeks after the end of the financial year, when

the majority of claims will have been received from Assembly Members.

Pack Page 106




Utilisation of the Remuneration Board’s Determination underspend

During the year, the entire budget, including anticipated underspends, is
continuously monitored. Forecasts are revised on a fortnightly basis to accurately
gauge the Investment Fund available for project and other priority expenditure by
the Commission. These forecasts are reviewed by Investment and Resourcing
Board (IRB) and investment prioritisation and expenditure decisions, following

scrutiny, are made at the fortnightly IRB meetings.

The information in table 4 shows the anticipated demands on the investment fund
for 2017-18. This includes unexpected demands on the Determination along with
project expenditure for 2017-18. Information on the anticipated expenditure for
2018-19 can be found within the Commission’s Final Budget for 2018-19 (page
29), laid before the Assembly in November 2017.

During 2017-18 the combination of the Determination underspend, operational
underspends, the capital budget and the opening investment fund (Table 3 -

£2.85million) were used to fund the following prioritised items:

Pack Page 107




Table 4

Expenditure of underspend and Investment Fund £°000

Impact of 2016-17 changes in staffing capacity £1,000
Determination Expenditure:
- Death in service AMSS* £125
£177
- Additional ministerial salaries* £21
- AMSS redundancy payments* £31
Apprentice Levy £110
EFM Priority Expenditure:
- Phase 2 Electrical Distribution Boards £29
- Senedd & Pierhead lift improvements £34 £133
- Ty Hywel water risk assessment £16
remedials
- Ty Hywel Lifts 1,2 & 3 rope £54
replacements
Projects (Table 5 - below) £1,262
Total investment expenditure £2,682
Remaining Balance £168

*The items marked were not foreseeable at the beginning of the financial year.

Pack Page 108




Table 5 - Project Expenditure

These items are summarised in table 4 above (£1,262k).

2017-18 Project Expenditure:

Library Management System £32
Finance System (phase 2) £22
MySenedd, including:

- Website and Content Management £35

- Information Management £22

£156

- Record of Proceedings £52

- Table Office £32
Ground Floor works including ICT and broadcasting £513
equipment
CCTV £362
Assembly Reform £100
Future accommodation planning £23
Weeping Window (Poppies) £44
Youth Parliament £10
Total Project budgeted expenditure* (Table 4 above) £1,262

*Year-to-date actual expenditure is £962k.

Pack Page 109




Presentation of the Commission 2019-20 Budget
As noted in our letter to your Committee, dated 21 December 2017,

the Investment and Resourcing Board (IRB), at its 7 December meeting, considered
a paper on the presentation of the 2019-20 Commission Budget. IRB
recommended that the Commission consider alternative budget presentations for
2019-20, rather than continuing with the existing presentation. Our aim in
presenting a revised model would be to address the concerns around
transparency raised by your Committee, whilst maintaining flexibility and
minimising risk to the Commission budget.

The Commission will review alternative budget presentations in the Spring of

2018. Two alternative models to be considered are as follows:

e aring-fenced budget for the Remuneration Board’s determination, set at
100%, with unused amounts being returned to the Welsh Consolidated
Fund via a supplementary budget, with a corresponding increase seen in
the Commission’s operational budget.

e areduced amount, e.g. a 98%, being set as a budget for the funding of the
Remuneration Board’s Determination, with a corresponding increase seen

in the Commission’s operational budget.

Assembly Commission

February 2018

Pack Page 110




Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

RBU 07 Gweinyddiaeth Riksdag Sweden | Swedish Riksdag Administration

SVERIGES bL&dbsd
RIKSDAG W&

7 February 2018 Our ref. 074-2017/18

Questions concerning the budget for expenditure
related to Members pay and allowances

General information about the Riksdag and compensation to
members

The Swedish Parliament — the Riksdag — has 349 members who are
elected every four years. In addition to this there is a Speaker. Three of the

members also serve as Deputy Speakers.

The members’ basic pay is determined by the Riksdag Remunerations
Board. Since October 2017, this pay has amounted to SEK 65,400 per
month (approx EUR 6,500). The Speaker has the same pay as the Prime
Minister, which is currently SEK 168,000 per month (approx. EUR
17,000). The Deputy Speakers have a supplement of 30 per cent in
addition to their monthly pay. The Chair and Deputy Chair of a
Committee or the Committee on European Union Affairs receive a
supplement of 20 and 15 per cent in addition to their monthly pay
respectively. Certain assignments, including serving as a member on the
Riksdag Board, entitles individuals to special remuneration.

In addition to their pay, members are entitled to reimbursement for their
official journeys, per diem, overnight accommodation or reimbursement
for equivalent accommodation if the member lives further than 50 km
from Stockholm, old-age, sickness and survivor's pension, insurance,
temporary childcare services for their own children under the age of 12
and a parking space. Rules concerning this are laid down in the Act on
Compensation to Members of the Riksdag (2016:1108).

A member who leaves the Riksdag is entitled — in certain circumstances —
to a severance package in the form of guaranteed income (for members
elected before 2014) or financial redeployment support (for members
elected after 2014). In addition, they are entitled to adjustment measures to
help them re-enter working life, for example help from a coach. Previous
members are also entitled to one month of pay after they have left their

position.

Anders Norin
Head of the Department for Administrative Services for Members * The Riksdag Administration

THE SWEDISH PARLIAMENT SE-100 12 Stockholm * Phone +46 8 786 40 00 * www.riksdagen.se

Pack Page 111
1(5)



In certain circumstances, a member may be granted leave, for example
parental leave or for illness. If this leave lasts longer than 30 days, an
alternate member is called in to carry out the member’s assignments
during their leave. In principle, the alternate member has the same rights
and obligations as an ordinary member.

The budget process

One of the Riksdag’s most important tasks is to take decisions regarding
expenditure and revenue in the central government budget. The Riksdag's
work on the central government budget starts every year with a proposal
from the Government. The Government presents its preliminary proposal -
the Spring Fiscal Policy Bill - in April. This contains the guidelines for
Sweden’s economic policy. In September, the Government presents its
second proposal - the Budget Bill - which contains the entire central
government budget.

The Budget Bill is managed via a two-step process. The first step involves
the Riksdag establishing an expenditure limit for each expenditure area at
the request of the Committee on Finance. There are 27 expenditure areas,
each of which contains different appropriations. Following this, the
expenditure areas are considered by each parliamentary committee. Costs
attributable to the pay of Riksdag members and other financial benefits are
included in expenditure area 1 Governance.

Costs relating to the pay of Riksdag members and other financial
conditions are contained in appropriation 2:1 Parties and members of the
Riksdag, etc. This appropriation can be used for such things as costs for
remuneration to which Riksdag members are entitled within the
framework of their assignment as members as well as the Speaker’s
activities, trips and entertainment.

During the period 2015-2017, appropriation 2:1 amounted to a total of
SEK 880,000,000 per year, or around EUR 88,000,000. In 2018, the total
amount is SEK 894,711,000, or around EUR 89,500,000.

To this can be added the costs linked to the Riksdag Administration’s
administrative expenses, such as employees’ salaries, rents and similar
items. These costs are included in appropriation 2:2. Appropriation 2:3
relates to the Riksdag’s properties, while appropriation 2:4 concerns the
Parliamentary Ombudsmen.

Pack Page 112

SVERIGES bdd Lad
RIKSDAG k&d

2(3)



SVERIGES b&itdd
RIKSDAG b&d

Once the Riksdag has taken a decision on the expenditure limit,
expenditure areas and appropriations in December of each year, a decision
is then taken on the exact distribution of the amounts contained in the
Rikdag Administration’s internal budget. This takes place in February of
each year. A decision has not yet been taken on the internal budget for
2018. With respect to pay and trips, pensions, severance packages and
individual official trips abroad, appropriation 2:1 was distributed as
follows in the internal budget for 2017:

Members' pay SEK 361,600,000 (aprox. EUR
36,160,000)

Travels in Sweden SEK 56,000,000 (aprox. EUR
5,600,000)

Climate offsetting SEK 500,000 (aprox. EUR 50,000)

Pensions SEK 100,000,000 (aprox. EUR
10,000,000)

Administration of pensions SEK 850,000 (aprox. EUR 85,000)

Adjustments measures SEK 500,000 (aprox. EUR 50,000)

Guaranteed income SEK 30,000,000 (aprox. EUR
3,000,000)

Financial redeployment SEK 1,000,000 (aprox. EUR 100,000)

support

Administration of severance | SEK 800,000 (aprox. EUR 80,000)

packages

Individual official trips SEK 6,107,000 (aprox. EUR 611,000)

abroad

Total SEK 557,357,000 (aprox. EUR
55,736,000)

As specified, expenditure area 1 and appropriations 2:1 and 2:2 are
included in the Government’s Budget Bill. However, calculations, texts
and supporting documents are produced at the Riksdag Administration,
which is the authority under the Riksdag tasked with supporting the work
of the Riksdag. The Finance Department has principle responsibility for
this work. Relevant departments within the Administration also contribute
supporting documentation and calculations, however.

The supporting documents to the aforementioned parts of appropriation
2:1 are produced by the Department for Administrative Services. This
work takes place at the beginning of each year.

With respect to pay, a calculation is produced based on the number of
members and taking into consideration such factors as pay increments, an

Pack Page 113
309



SVERIGES L&d L&d
RIKSDAG b&d

estimate of how many members are expected to leave their position during
the budget year and the fact that pay is normally increased by around 2 per
cent each autumn. The Speaker’s pay and employers’ social security
contributions can be added to this. Of major significance to the calculation
is whether the coming year is an election year or not. The results of the
past two years have exceeded the budgeted amount by around SEK
1,000,000 - 2,000,000.

With respect to trips within Sweden, an estimate is made of the cost on
the basis of previous years’ results and travel patterns, as well as by taking
into account whether the budget year is an election year or not. Experience
shows that members’ travel increases during an election year, as well as
by other modes of transport. An assessment of any future hikes in ticket
prices or similar rises is included in the calculation, along with the cost of
the travel company the Administration uses. Results from the past two
years have fallen below the budgeted amount, or SEK 55,000,000, by
several million kronor.

Each member may use a total of SEK 50,000 for individual official trips
abroad for each electoral period. The total cost per electoral period of
four years therefore amounts to SEK 17,450,000. This total amount is
distributed across the four-year period, taking into account experience of
the travel patterns that tend to characterise work at the Riksdag during an
electoral period. So far, a lower amount of SEK 2,617,500 has thus been
set aside for years 1 and 4, that is, 2015 and 2018, while a higher amount
of SEK 6,107,000 has been set aside for years 2 and 3, that is, 2016 and
2017. Results usually fall below the budgeted amount by one or several
million SEK.

The budget heading pensions includes old-age pension, disability pension
and survivor's pension. The current pension system was introduced
through a reform in 2010. Due to different transition rules, previous
pension reforms may also be relevant. It is hard to calculate pension costs
with any certainty. The assessment is made based on previous results, as
well as assumptions of how many people will be taking out some form of
pension over the coming years. In recent years, results have largely
corresponded to or fallen somewhat below budgeted amounts. The trend is
for pension costs to increase slightly each year, which is linked to the
formulation of the new regulations that were introduced in 2010.

Costs of severance packages such as guaranteed income and financial
redeployment support are hard to estimate and calculate, as the results are
dependent upon how many members will leave the Riksdag over the

Pack Page 114
4(5)



SVERIGES L&Jbdd
RIKSDAG k&

coming year and it is not possible to know in advance how many of these
previous members will request a severance package. Aspects such as the
age, length of service at the Riksdag and the applicable severance package
system of each previous member are also significant. Another factor of
uncertainty is that the guaranteed income system will be gradually
replaced by a system that was introduced in 2014 — financial redeployment
support — which is less financially beneficial. The calculation is based on
previous results and an assessment of the aforementioned factors. With
respect to guaranteed income, results from previous years have fallen
below the budgeted amount. Since the financial redeployment support
severance package is new, the results have so far been modest.

Pack Page 115
5 (5)



Pack Page 116



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee o
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

BBU 08 Ty’r Cyffredin | House of Commons

HOUSE OF COMMONS

vV

Simon Thomas AM

Chair

Finance Committee

National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 INA

cl_\@f Cha,

Thank you for your letter of 8 December, requesting written evidence for your
Committee’s inquiry on the Remuneration Board of the National Assembly’s
determination underspend. As the Terms of Reference for the inquiry mostly focus on the
workings of the Assembly Commission, this submission provides information related to
the final bullet point “how other parliaments, within the UK and more widely, budget for
expenditure related to Members’ pay and allowances”.

7 February 2018

As you will be aware, the vast majority of Members pay and expenses are now dealt with
by The Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority (IPSA). IPSA will provide written
evidence themselves, to cover the Members pay and expenses that they deal with.
Therefore, this submission only refers to the pay and expenses dealt with by the House of
Commons.

The elements remaining within the House of Commons Estimates ||| [ [ |
I - - 7)o

Members Estimate
Deputy Speakers pay

Administration Estimate
Resource
Stationery and postage
Committee travel

Capital
IT equipment

These items are budgeted for in the same way we budget more widely. For example, The
Deputy Speakers’ pay is based on actual salary costs plus expected inflation. The
stationery and postage budget is based on the number of members, the annual allowance
and a forecast of how much of the allowance will be taken up, based on trends in previous
years. In 2016-17 this budget was underspent by £338,000 (12.1%). The Committee travel
budget contains separate sums for UK-travel (which is not cash limited) and overseas

David Natzler, Clerk of the House of Commons Pack Page 117
London SW1A 0AA T: 020 7219 1310



travel (which is subject to a cap set by the House of Commons Commission), with in both
cases the subsistence costs reimbursed to Members being based on HMRC-recognised
guidelines. In 2016-17, this budget was underspent by £226,000 (27.5%). The budgets are
based on trends in previous years. IT equipment is based on the allowance and a forecast of
how many members will take up their allowance and when they will take up the allowance,
based on trends in previous years.

The budgeting process aims to minimise underspend. Underspends are used if necessary
and permissible to fund agreed overspends elsewhere in the budget.

In 2016-17 the IT equipment budget of £200,000 was breached by £54,978, and an excess
vote occurred. The Public Accounts Committee reported on this in its report, Excess Votes
2016-17. The report states:

No individual Member exceeded their individual allowance for equipment
purchases. However, during 2016—17 the House failed to apply its normal level of
budgetary control on this specific ICT expenditure, which sat outside the normal
purchase order processes applicable to other areas of expenditure. The House failed
to anticipate, in considering its Supplementary Estimate, the impact of the high
level of new Members from by-elections since the 2015 General Election, resulting
in additional capital expenditure of £32,000. Furthermore, capital expenditure of
£63,000 which should have been recognised in 2015-16 (as it related to ICT
equipment ordered and received in that year) was not identified until late in 2016—
17. These factors contributed to inadequate forecasting and the overall capital
overspend in 2016-17.

The House of Commons have taken a number of actions, some of which were already
planned prior to the end of 2016-17, to mitigate against an overspend recurring. These
comprise: changes to the procurement and accounting processes; changes to the handling
of provisioning and recording of assets; and the Estimate process. From 2017-18, Members
Loan equipment, support and broadband services have been transferred from the House of
Commons Members Estimate to the House of Commons Administration Estimate. This
will ensure purchase orders and commitments are recorded on the House Administration
Information System (HAIS), goods receipting and monthly accruals can be recorded,
standard reporting will be available and this budget and costs will be included in the
regular re-forecasting exercise.

I hope this information is useful to the Committee’s inquiry, and also sets out some of the
issues that arise here at Westminster.

ﬂ\u
David Natzler, Clerk of the House of é:grqgﬁgnEage 118
London SW1A oAA T: 020 7219 1310



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 09 Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru | Auditor General for Wales

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan
Cardiff / Caerdydd
CF119LJ

Mr Simon Thomas AM Tel / Ffon: 029 2032 0500
Chair of the Finance Committee Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

National Assembly for Wales Textphone / Ffon testun: 029 2032 0660
Cardiff Bay info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru

Cardiff CF99 1NA www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru

Reference: HVT/2811/caf
Date issued: 7 February 2018

Dear Simon

Thank you for your invitation to attend the Finance Committee on 15" March to
discuss the Committee’s inquiry into the way in which the Assembly Commission
utilises the Remuneration Board’s Determinations underspend. | have asked
Anthony Barrett, my Assistant Auditor General to attend the meeting on my
behalf. Anthony will be supported by Ann-Marie Harkin, Financial Audit Lead for
the audit of the Assembly Commission’s accounts.

| do not wish to add to the observations made in Anthony’s letter to the Committee
dated 20 June 2017, which | append to this letter.

Yours sincerely

HUW VAUGHAN THOMAS
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WALES

Page 1 of 1 - please contact us in Welsh or E@I&Ekcﬁﬁ@@ 4 1i9 Gymraeg neu'n Saesneg.


mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/

L

WALES AUDIT OFFICE Wales Audit Office / Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru
SWYDDFA ARCHWILIO CYMRU

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Cardiff / Caerdydd

CF119LJ

Mr Simon Thomas AM Tel / Fféon: 029 2032 0500

National Assembly for Wales Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Cardiff Bay Textphone / Ffon testun: 029 2032 0660

Cardiff
CF99 1NA info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru

Reference: AJB301
Date issued: 20 June 2017

Dear Simon

www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru

National Assembly for Wales Commission — Draft Budget

Thank you for your letter of 24 May 2017 to the Auditor
he is currently on holiday.

General. | am replying on Huw’s behalf as

My response is based on our knowledge of the issues as outlined in your letter and the supporting
Finance Committee transcript. We have not undertaken a specific review of the Commission’s

budget setting arrangements.

It appears to me that there are two issues that need to be addressed:

e The requirement that the Commission provide sufficient resources to fund Remuneration
Board determinations. | understand that the Commission sets its budget at the maximum that it

estimates will be needed to cover this requirement.

e The Finance Committee’s responsibilities to scrutinise the Commission’s budget, which is
complicated by the contingency (“foreseeable underspend”) that is built into the Remuneration

Board budget line.

HM Treasury provides guidance in its publication, ‘Supply Estimates: a guidance manual’ on the
form and content of Supply Estimates. At paragraph 2.1 this guidance states that:

“Parliament expects departments to submit for approval Estimates based upon taut and
realistic spending plans. This means that the amount of provision sought in the Estimates

must reflect the department’s best view as to the
in that financial year. The amounts sought in the

amount of expenditure likely to take place
Estimate should be neither more (perhaps

in order to provide a buffer in case of unexpected additions) nor less (perhaps in order to
spread out the increase) than is actually expected to be needed.”

It is a matter for the National Assembly to determine whether to apply such guidance in Wales.

| fully recognise the practical difficulties that the Commission faces in needing to provide budget
cover for such demand-led expenditure. It is interesting therefore to review the published 2015-16
outcome position for each of the Commission’s UK counterpart bodies across corresponding

budget lines, as summarised in the following table.

Page 1 of 3 - National Assembly for Wales Commission — Draft Budget - please contact us in Welsh or

English / cysylltwch & ni'n Gymrade gk 93@@120


mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
http://www.archwilio.cymru/

Description of Estimated Actual Variance Variance
Expenditure Expenditure* Expenditure* £000

National Resources in 14,500 13,453 1,047 7.2
Assembly for respect of
Wales Remuneration
Commission Board decisions
Independent MPs’ pay, 201,082 169,230 31,852 15.6
Parliamentary staffing,
Standards business costs
Authority and expenses
Northern Ireland Members’ 46,230 43,063 3,167 6.8
Assembly salaries,

expenses and

administration

costs

Scottish The Body does not produce an itemised outturn summary
Parliament

Corporate Body

* As set out in the body’s Resource Outturn Statement

For preceding years, | also summarise below the Commission’s percentage underspend on
Remuneration Board decisions:

e 2014-15:5.5%
e 2013-14: 3.2%
o 2012-13:4.2%

This high-level analysis, shows that each of the Commission’s counterpart bodies reported
relatively significant underspends on “members’ costs” for 2015-16. Although we have not
reviewed these bodies’ budget setting processes we have had discussions with colleagues in the
Northern Ireland Audit Office and Audit Scotland which have highlighted some interesting
differences in budget setting arrangements for Members’ costs. For example, we understand that
the Scottish Parliament Corporate Body estimate the likely take up of members’ allowances each
year; whilst the Northern Ireland Assembly, similarly to the Commission, set their budget at the
maximum amount payable, although we understand that there is an informal arrangement to
refund any underspend. If it has not done so recently, there may be merit in the Commission
considering with its counter parts how they try to manage this budget area.

While | do not think that there is a simple solution to the issues you raise, | offer below two models
for consideration by the Finance Committee.

Establish a separate resource control total for Remuneration Board determinations

At present the Budget Motion approved by the National Assembly includes a single resource limit
for the Commission relating to all its expenditure. You could consider with the Commission the
option of separating this out into two resource requests: the first for Remuneration Board

determinations; and, the second for the Commission’s other expenditure.

This option would provide for greater transparency in the overall budget process. The original
resource request for Remuneration Board determinations could be set at an estimated level for the
year with any additional resource required being sought through the supplementary budget

Page 2 of 3 - National Assembly for Wales Commission — Draft Budget - Please contact us in Welsh or
English / Cysylltwch & ni'n Gymraeg neu'n Sa¢2@gk Page 121



process. This approach would effectively transfer the risk of providing sufficient resource for
determinations from the Commission to the overall management of the Welsh block budget.

| would note, however, that it would be unusual for a legislature to exercise such detailed control
over a body’s budget.

Maintain the status quo with additional reporting

The second option would be to request the Commission to provide further detail in its budget
submission, including:

e The estimated budget for determinations in the year (potentially based on historical
experience); the maximum amount as currently included in the overall resource request; and
the level of contingency (being the difference between these two figures).

e Information about the projects on which any underspend against the determinations budget
would be utilised.

This approach would afford the Finance Committee the opportunity to scrutinise the totality of the
Commission’s spending plans.

The Committee would then have three options when considering the budget request:

e Endorse the maximum request, and allow the Commission to use any underspend on its
priority projects.

e Endorse the maximum request, but require the Commission to present a revised budget later
in the financial year if anticipated Determination spend was likely to be significantly below that
maximum level. This would allow the Committee to decide whether to allow the Commission to
retain the funding for its priority projects or to reallocate the funding to another WCF funded—
body.

e Endorse the expected rather than the maximum level of budget and require the Commission to
present a supplementary estimate if actual spend was expected to be higher than the initial
estimate.

I hope that you find this information useful. | have not asked the Clerk for the Commission’s

perspective on these options. The Finance Committee may wish to do so while also asking for a
more-depth commentary on budget management in the other UK administrations.

Yours sincerely

He &

Anthony Barrett
Assistant Auditor General

Page 3 of 3 - National Assembly for Wales Commission — Draft Budget - Please contact us in Welsh or

English / Cysylitwch a ni'n Gymraddaekn E’&g@glzz



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 10 Senedd Seland Newydd | New Zealand Parliament

PARLIAMENTARY SERVICE

Te Ratonga Whare Paremata

8 February 2018

Simon Thomas AC

Chair, Finance Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff, CF99 1NA

WALES
SeneddFinance@assembly.wales

Dear Simon

Re: Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend (Welsh Assembly)

| am responding to your letter dated 8 December 2017 seeking an understanding of how New Zealand
Parliament budgets relating to pay, allowances and entitlements for members of parliament are set and
managed.

Background

In New Zealand, the Members of Parliament (Remuneration and Services) Act 2013 (the Act) provides for
members of Parliament (members) to be properly supported in a way that maintains confidence in the
integrity of Parliament. The Act:

e provides for the remuneration of members;

e ensures they have services that they require to enable them to carry out their roles and functions;
e establishes an efficient and effective system for determining those services; and

e  provides for travel services for family members of members.

Under the Act, entitlements for New Zealand members are determined by either the Remuneration Authority
(the Authority, which is independent) or the Parliamentary Service (the Service). However, they are
administered by the Service.

Salaries and expense allowance

Under the Act, the Authority must determine the salaries and the expense allowance to be paid to members.
Section 12 of the Remuneration Authority Act 1977 specifies how the salaries for members must be fixed.
The Authority issues a Determination that specifies the salaries for members and specific office holders. The
Determination also provides for an expense allowance for members which is used to cover out-of-pocket
expenses incurred by members carrying out parliamentary business, such as for gifts, memberships and
meals. In the past, increases to the allowance have been linked to the New Zealand Consumers Price Index
movement. In 2017 the allowance was increased by 1.7% on the previous Determination in line with the
New Zealand Consumers Price Index movement to 30 June 2017. The Service provides the payroll services
for paying salaries and the expense allowance to members. Separate entitlements are available to cover
expenses such as travel, accommodation and communications services.

Support services

Remuneration Authority
Under the Act, the following services must be determined by the Remuneration Authority:

e Accommodation services for members; and
e Travel services for family members of members.



mailto:SeneddFinance@assembly.wales
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2013/0093/40.0/DLM4034223.html
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1977/0110/52.0/DLM15637.html
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2017/0262/latest/DLM7421122.html?search=ad_act%40regulation__parliamentary+salaries+and+allowances____25_ac%40bn%40rc%40dn%40apub%40aloc%40apri%40apro%40aimp%40bgov%40bloc%40bpri%40bmem%40rpub%40rimp_ac%40rc%40ainf%40anif%40aaif%40aase%40arep%40bcur%40rinf%40rnif%40raif%40rasm%40rrev_a_aw_se&p=1#DLM7421103

The Authority issues a Determination that specifies the related entitlements for members. The explanatory
memorandum at the end of the Determination provides useful background about the process followed,
including who is consulted during the process. These services are administered by the Service.

Parliamentary Service
Under the Act, other entitlements are set by the Speaker of the House under Directions by the Speaker of
the House of Representatives 2017 and these entitlements include:

e Members’ travel services;

e Administrative and support services for members, such as staff and offices;
e Communications services; and

e A capped contribution to a home based security system.

Directions are issued by the Speaker once every term of Parliament, so generally every three years and in
time to take effect at the start of a new Parliament. Before issuing Directions, the Speaker must take into
account any relevant advice given by the Parliamentary Service Commission!. The Parliamentary Service
Commission is required to recommend to the Speaker persons who are suitable to be members of a review
committee (the Committee). A Committee must be established at least once every term of Parliament to
review the amounts of money appropriated for members’ entitlements set under the Directions. The
Committee must consider whether the amounts of money appropriated are being used efficiently, and are
adequate to enable members and parties to effectively perform their functions. The Committee consults with
the Parliamentary Service Commission before making recommendations to the Speaker about issuing new
Directions, including allocation amounts for members’ support services. The Directions? specify the
maximum amounts available to members for support services.

Budget Process

The Service follows the same process as all government agencies and departments in New Zealand and
maintains baseline funding which rolls forward each year. Additional baseline funding (or a reduction in
baselines) can be applied for on an annual basis. The Service applies for baseline funding for Members of
Parliament (excluding salary costs) on a Parliamentary term basis — once every three years. The Service
utilises the level of funding that has been recommended by the Committee and applies for the maximum
amounts allowable per member. If the application is successful, the Service is issued with a series of
appropriations (legal authority to spend) relating to each type of expenditure
(http://www.treasury.govt.nz/budget/process). The series of appropriations relating to the Service is known
as Vote: Parliamentary Service. Each appropriation within a vote has a scope statement that restricts
expenditure under that appropriation to the scope.

Funding for members is down at the party level as funding for a party leader’s office and wider leadership
costs are also funded as well as costs associated with each member running a constituency office and hiring
staff etc. Each party is given a multi-year appropriation that is restricted in time period and scope of
expenditure. The Vote: Parliamentary Service appropriation is available online, and below is an example of
an appropriation scope:

Scope statement for each political party in the 52" Parliament of New Zealand:

This appropriation is limited to funding for the XYZ parliamentary party to support their parliamentary
operations during the 52nd Parliament including its Leader's office, support staff, research operations,
Whip's office, communications, administrative and support services for members, and, during the
immediate post-election period, qualifying electoral candidates and former members, as allowed under
directions given by the Speaker.

The appropriation can be adjusted on a bi-annual basis if the movements in the number or status of the
members changes the level of funding they are entitled to under the appropriation. Members of Parliament
and Leaders’ offices can utilise funds under the Speaker’s Directions up to the maximum stated. Any
underspend cannot be utilised for other purposes by the Service as all expenditure must be made within the
scope statement that governs each appropriation.

Appropriations are an authority to spend. The Service draws down against them based on cash flow
forecasts rather than receiving the full amount and returning underspend. Members utilise funds directly — for
example, all office, staff and incidental costs are paid directly by the Service as opposed to being paid for by
the member and claimed back.

! Sections 14 and 15 of the Parliamentary Service Act 2000
2 Schedule 4



http://www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2017/0263/latest/DLM7427920.html
https://www.parliament.nz/media/4254/wstdirections-by-the-speaker-of-the-house-of-represen.pdf
https://www.parliament.nz/media/4254/wstdirections-by-the-speaker-of-the-house-of-represen.pdf
http://www.treasury.govt.nz/budget/process
http://www.treasury.govt.nz/budget/2017/estimates/v5/est17-v5-parser.pdf

| trust this assists and thank you again for the invitation to provide a submission. Should you require any
clarification or further information, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours sincerely,

i

David Stevenson
General Manager




Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 11 Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid | Cabinet Secretary for Finance

- f’
Mark Drakeford AM/AC '\/ ( f

Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid o
Cabinet Secretary for Finance _ ;)Q

Llywodraeth Cymru
Welsh Government

Ein cyf/Our ref MA — P/MD/0457/18

Simon Thomas AC
Chair of the Finance Committee

7 February 2018
Dear Simon

Thank you for your letter of 8" December regarding the Committee’s inquiry on the
Remuneration Board’s determination underspend.

As you know, the Welsh Government is responsible for laying the annual and
supplementary budget motions under the Government of Wales Act 2006 and for
incorporating into those budget motions the budgets of all bodies directly funded by the
Welsh Consolidated Fund (WCF).

Standing Orders sets out the budget setting process for each body directly funded from the
WCF, ensuring budgets and expenditure are properly scrutinised by the Assembly and
bodies are accountable for the funds that they use.

The Welsh Government uses the information published and agreed under those
arrangements to compile and gain formal approval of the budget in the annual and
supplementary budget motions.

The Welsh Government is also responsible for reporting on the Welsh Block as a whole to
HM Treasury including the total underspend position each year and manages the
arrangement to carry forward underspends. In practice, communication channels are
established between officials of each direct funded body and the Welsh Government to
ensure the in-year position is effectively managed.

| was interested to read see Committee’s report on the Assembly Commission’s Draft
Budget and the information provided by the Auditor General for Wales included in your
letter. Whilst it would not be appropriate for me to comment on how the Assembly
Commission should set and gain agreement for its budget, | would like to offer the following

observations.
Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:

Bae Caerdydd « Cardiff Bay 0300 0604400
Caerdydd . Cardiff Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
CF99 1NA Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.

We welcome receiving correspondence in V\Elacl&ﬁﬁgs%orll%@ received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.


mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales

As you know, the Welsh Government has taken a number of steps to increase the
transparency of its budget over the years. In times of austerity, this is of particular
importance as budgets within the public sector are increasingly constrained. | would
welcome any measures to increase transparency across the other bodies funded from the
WCF.

Our approach to transparency within the Welsh Government ensures that resources are
used for the purposes for which they were voted and estimates of expenditure are robust
and realistic. When proposing budgets, we draw on the best possible evidence available to
inform our planning.

In respect of the more technical aspects concerning the reporting and utilising of
underspends, the Wales Reserve will provide the mechanism to carry forward underspends
from one year into the next. Underspends from all bodies funded from the WCF at year end
will go into the Reserve. All bodies may propose and request changes to their budget in
year via the supplementary budget process and additional funding requirements in year are
managed by the Welsh Government following the Assembly’s scrutiny of the body’s
proposal.

Given the relatively small sums involved in respect of other direct funded bodies, this
approach has worked well to date. However, should the levels of underspend and/or
request for resources in year increase (as could be the case under the suggestion put
forward by the AGW), we would need to ensure there is a proportional level of governance
around this process to enable the Welsh Government to continue to effectively manage the
reserve position and in-year resources are not compromised. In practice, | would expect
this to be reflected in an enhancement to the clear lines of communication that are already
established between officials of the relevant bodies.

| hope you find this information helpful.

Best wishes,

Mok

Mark Drakeford AM/AC
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Gyllid
Cabinet Secretary for Finance

Pack Page 127



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

RBU 12 Senedd yr Alban | The Scottish Parli§m§t

II-'.
E
§

The Scottish Parliament
Parlamaid na h-Alba

The Presiding Officer
Rt Hon Ken Macintosh MSP

Simon Thomas AC

Chair of the Finance Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA
09 February 2018

)m DMON,

National Assembly for Wales’'s Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

| am writing in response to your request for information on how the Scottish
Parliamentary Corporate Body budgets for expenditure related to Members’ pay and
allowances.

The arrangements for Members’ salaries and for the reimbursement of expenses are
set out in separate schemes, both of which were established by resolutions of the
Parliament. These resolutions authorise the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body
(SPCB) to administer certain aspects of the schemes, but any change to the
schemes themselves require the approval of Parliament.

Salaries

The current Salaries Scheme has effectively been in place since 2002 and originally
set Members’ and ministerial salaries at 87.5% of the equivalent salaries for
members of the House of Commons. The Salaries Scheme was amended with effect
from April 2015 to replace the link to MP’s salaries with a link to Scottish public sector
earnings, as measured by the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE).

The budgeting for Members’ salaries is relatively straightforward, as the number of
Members is fixed and the ASHE index used to uprate the salaries is published in
October, in advance of the SPCB finalising its budget submission. Accordingly, the
actual figures for Members’ salaries match very closely to the approved budget.

Reimbursement of Expenses

The current Reimbursement of Expenses Scheme has largely been in place since
2008. This implemented a series of recommendations from an independent review
panel (the Langlands Report), which had been commissioned by the SPCB in 2007.

The Scheme provides for the reimbursement of various categories of costs which are
incurred by Members in undertaking their parliamentary duties. Some of these
categories, principally the Staff Cost Provision and the Office Cost Provision, are
subject to a capped annual limit in each financial year. Other costs, such as travel,
are reimbursed according to the rules of the Scheme and are therefore not subject to
a capped annual limit.

The Scaégkaﬁi)ﬁgﬁ, %urgh EH99 1SP

Tel: 0131 348 5324 Fax: 0131 348 5301 Email: PresidingOfficers@parliament.scot
www.parliament.scot




Our experience of the Scheme’s operation over many years is that, in practice, many
Members do not claim the maximum potential entitlement that the capped provisions
would theoretically allow. Accordingly, we make an estimate of that percentage
‘underspend’ in setting the SPCB’s budget for Members’ Expenses. This varies
across. the different categories of expenditure provision.

The outturn for Members’ Expenses is less predictable than for Salaries, so a greater
degree of tolerance needs to be built in to the annual budget to allow for different
expenditure patterns.

Overall Budget

The budget for Members’ salaries and expenses forms part of the SPCB'’s overall
budget submission. To the extent that there is an overspend or underspend in
Members’ costs, it needs to be managed at a corporate level by compensating
adjustments, either to the SPCB'’s central contingency or to the amount budgeted for
other expenditure.

| hope that this response will be of assistance to your inquiry.

Yours sincerely

| "

‘//_,/!‘ ‘ | | \
l\{.V\ | \ eSS

Rt Hon Ken Macintosh MSP
Presiding Officer :

Pack Page 129




Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Co nmittee _
Y tanwariant'sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 13 Cynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon | Northern Ireland Assembly

Northern Ireland
Assembly Clerk to the Assembly/Chief Executive
Parliament Buildings, Ballymiscaw, Stormont
Belfast BT4 3XX

Tel: +44 (0)28 9052 1199
email: leslev.hoge@niassembly.gov.uk

Simon Thomas AM
Chair of Finance Committee
National Assembly for Wales
Ty Hywel
Cardiff Bay
CF99 1NA
9 February 2018

Dear Mr Thomas
Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

Thank you for your letter dated 8 December 2017 seeking views on how the Northern
Ireland Assembly Commission (NIAC) budgets for expenditure related to Members'’
pay and allowances and to highlight any issues that may have arisen under this
budgeting process. This evidence is provided in my role as the Accounting Officer for
the NIAC’s budget. | would be pleased to offer oral evidence to the Committee should
that be required.

When compiling this evidence, | have considered the legislative context for the
expenditure that is incurred by the NIAC in relation to Members’ pay and allowances.
It might be helpful to set out that legislative context.

The NIAC is the body corporate for the Northern Ireland Assembly. Section 40(4) of
the Northern Ireland Act 1998 (“the 1998 Act”) specifies that the NIAC “shall provide
the Assembly, or ensure that the Assembly is provided, with the property, staff and
services required for the Assembly’s purposes.” Sections 47 and 48 of the 1998 Act
make provision for the Assembly to Determine the salaries, allowances and pensions
payable to Members (and former Members) of the Legislative Assembly (MLAS).

In the Northern Ireland context, the equivalent body to the Welsh Remuneration Board
is the Independent Financial Review Panel (“the Panel”). The Panel was established
under section 1 of the Assembly Members (Independent Financial Review and
Standards) Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 (“the 2011 Act”). Section 2 of the 2011 Act
specifies that the functions of the Panel are to make Determinations as to the salaries
and allowances payable to MLAs under section 47 of the 1998 Act and the pensions,
gratuities and allowances payable under section 48 of that Act.

Pack Page 130



The responsibility for Determining the quantum of pay and allowances for MLAs and
any qualifying criteria attached to that expenditure falls to the Panel. The NIAC has
responsibility for assessing whether those criteria have been met, for making resulting
payments and for reporting on all payments made to MLAs each year. Budgeting for
the costs associated with all payments made under a Determination also falls to the
NIAC.

For the 2017/18 financial year, the NIAC’s overall budget proposals (including MLAS’
costs and all other revenue and capital costs) were presented to the Assembly’s Audit
Committee in October 2016 under a Memorandum of Understanding on the NIAC
Budget Setting Process agreed with the Northern Ireland Executive (see Appendix A).
This Memorandum was agreed as a response to budgeting exercises between
2010/11 and 2015/16 that saw the NIAC’s budget reduced via Executive—led budget
plans. The Memorandum was intended to place the process for setting the NIAC's
budget on a more constitutionally sound footing.

The budget proposals that are presented to the Audit Committee include the costs
arising from the most recent Determination issued by the Panel and the staffing and
administration costs that are incurred by the NIAC when carrying out its statutory
functions. In Estimates terms, the NIAC’s expenditure is approved by the Assembly
(or by Westminster for this financial year) under a single Vote. There has been some
debate about the merits or otherwise of splitting this Vote into two parts; one for MLAS’
costs and the other for Commission-incurred running costs but a single Vote has
prevailed.

Although not explicitly set out in the Memorandum, there was considerable discussion
with officials from the Department of Finance (DoF) about the treatment of costs
associated with MLAs. These discussions were informed by previous cuts to the
Commission’s budget that were applied to the entirety of the budget when, in reality,
the costs for MLAs could not be reduced as they were established under legislation
(i.e. a Determination issued by the Panel). Consequently, the entirety of the budget
cut was managed by the Commission through reductions in staffing and other running
costs.

It was subsequently agreed that MLAs’ costs would be estimated in full but that any
excess budget provision that was identified during the financial year would be returned
to the DoF. Similarly, should the costs associated with MLAs increase for any reason
(for example, through a revised Determination issued by the Panel) the increase in
costs over and above the initial estimate would be met in full from additional resources
from DoF and the NIAC would not be required to fund this increase from its remaining
budget.

In terms of the specific areas highlighted by the Committee and set out in your letter
of 8 December, | will cover each in turn.

How the Assembly Commission forecasts its budget for Remuneration
Board Determinations?

The NIAC forecasts its budgetary requirements for MLASs’ costs based on the
maximum possible uptake of those costs. A significant element of MLAs’ costs

Pack Page 131




relates to set amounts (for example, salaries and travel costs are fixed), some
of the remainder are variable amounts but are well known in advance (for
example, office rental and rates costs based on existing leases or MLAS’
staffing costs) and much of the remaining costs are covered by annual limits
(for example, there is £4,900 limit for constituency office operating costs and
a £600 limit for mobile phone costs).

MLAS’ salaries are included in the forecast at the levels that are prescribed in
the extant Determination. The Determination includes an annual uprating of
salaries if certain inflation criteria are met and any uprating is included in the
salary forecasts. Salary on-costs (for example, employer’s national insurance
contributions and Consolidated Fund payments to the Members Pension
Scheme) are also included in the forecast.

Costs for rent and rates for MLAs’ constituency offices are constrained by limits
set out in the Determination with the estimate of costs for each year based on
the leases that must be provided to the NIAC before any rent or rates payments
can be made. These lease amounts tend to be relatively stable. Similarly, the
yearly costs for MLAs’ staff are stable making forecasting relatively simple.
Each MLA can employ 2.0 FTE members of staff and the Determination
specifies pay scales for each member of staff with uprating provisions included.
Therefore, the salary costs for MLAs’ staff (including employer’s on-costs) can
be readily ascertained.

The forecast for those elements of the Determination that are expressed as
limits are calculated as “number of MLAs x limit set out in the Determination”.
So, for constituency office operating costs this would be 90 (MLAs) x £4,900
(limit in Determination) = £441,000. Other costs of this type are forecast in a
similar manner. In practice, not every MLA will utilise the full limit available but
provision is made for the full amount in the NIAC's initial budgets to provide
sufficient budgetary cover for this eventuality.

There are a small number of costs where year-on-year estimates are made.
These include costs for statutory redundancy payments for MLAs' staff, for
costs associated with MLAs retiring through ill-health and for costs that are
claimed by MLAs as result of disability adjustments. These costs are estimated
based on experience of previous claims of these types and from regular
interactions with MLAs.

Whether the way in which the Assembly Commission provides
information on the underspend is clear and transparent?

Any forecast underspend or overspend on MLAS’ costs is calculated internally.
As noted previously, the NIAC's budget for 20171/8 was agreed by the Audit
Committee in October 2016. The budget that was approved for Non-Ring
Fenced DEL Resources (i.e. Departmental Expenditure Limits Resources
excluding depreciation and impairment charges) was £38.414m and this total
was split according to the relevant categories of expenditure. Of this amount,
£15.709m related to MLAs’ costs covering MLAs’ salaries, MLAs’ Other Costs

Pack Page 132



(including winding up expenses, disability payments, etc.), MLAs' travel costs
and constituency office costs (including MLAs’ staffing costs).

Each month, the actual expenditure against the total budget is reported and
revised forecasts for each category of expenditure are calculated. An extract
from the management accounts for December 2017 is shown at Appendix B.
These reports are reviewed by senior managers and reported to the NIAC.
Following that review process, the actual expenditure for all categories of
expenditure (including the various categories of costs associated with MLAs
such as salaries, constituency costs, travel costs, etc.) is reported to the DoF.
This reporting is largely for cash management purposes. In addition, the NIAC
also reports to the DoF on its up-to-date forecasts for each of these categories
including MLAs' costs on a monthly basis. In this way, the impact of the
agreement that is mentioned above about releasing surplus funds (or seeking
additional funds) is readily apparent.

The operation of the spirit and intent of the Memorandum has been clearly
demonstrated throughout 2017/18. For example, the NIAC’s budget for
2017/18 that was agreed in October 2016 included the costs associated with
108 MLAs. The unexpected Assembly election in March 2017 saw a reduction
in the number of MLAs to 90. In addition, the absence of Executive Ministers
and a lower than anticipated utilisation of the budget for MLAs’ staff costs
meant that there has been excess budget provision for MLAs' costs for
2017/18 of approximately £3.754m.

Although the political situation meant that the timing of in-year Monitoring
Rounds was not as intended during the year, £3.0m of this total was
immediately identified to the DoF and returned at the first available opportunity.
This reduced amount was then included in the NIAC’s budget plans presented
to Parliament by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland in the absence of
local budget arrangements. The remaining surplus over and above the £3.0m
that was initially identified arose over the course of the financial year and was
also highlighted and returned to DoF in subsequent Monitoring Rounds.
Therefore, the agreed procedure for dealing with surplus funds that arise from
an underspend on costs associated with MLAs has been implemented.

In terms of external reporting, as the categories of expenditure are below the
level that is reported in Estimates and Voted by the Assembly or Westminster,
there is no routine external reporting of the total costs incurred on MLAs’ pay
and allowances. However, in the NIAC’s Annual Report and Accounts, an
analysis is provided of deviations of actual expenditure from Voted amounts.
This analysis typically shows how these deviations have arisen according to
the different categories of expenditure (for example, NIAC staff salaries, NIAC
admin costs, MLAs’ salaries, etc.). In addition, details of all payments made to
each MLA are reported for each year on the Assembly’s website.

How the Assembly Commission decides to utilises the underspend after
meeting the Remuneration Board’s Determinations?

Pack Page 133



As noted above, this situation does not arise as any underspends on MLAs'
costs are released back to the DoF. However, if a scenario arose whereby
there was underspend on MLAs' costs but the NIAC required additional
resources for its other activities, the NIAC would release the surplus funds
available from MLAs' costs and seek additional resources through the in-year
mechanisms set out in the Memorandum. This may involve further interaction
with the Audit Committee.

How other parliaments, within the UK and more widely, budget for
expenditure related to Members’ pay and allowances?

I trust that the above analysis provides a useful reply to this question from the
Northern Ireland perspective.

It is acknowledged that the Memorandum of Understanding on the NIAC Budget
Setting Process that underpins much of the above analysis has only been in operation
for one year and that the current financial year has not been a normal accounting
period. However, the principle that an underspend on MLASs’ costs should be released
and not utilised by the NIAC has been applied this year and the NIAC has no cause to
doubt that it will apply in the future. Similarly, should a future Determination require
additional funds, the NIAC anticipates that those funds would be made available
without recourse to the other funding streams that are managed by the NIAC.

| trust that this information is helpful to the Committee.

Yours sincerely

g/ !i! Vo

LESLEY HOGG
Clerk to the Assembly/Chief Executive

Pack Page 134



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING ON THE NIAC BUDGET SETTING
PROCESS

Appendix A
Preparation of Draft Budget:

Context

The Assembly Commission (the "Commission") prepares a draft budget for the
period of the Executive’s Budget as notified by the Department of Finance (DoF). This
budget is established in advance of the timetable established by DoF for
Executive Departments;

Key Milestones
a. As part of the development of the Commission's draft budget, the
Commission actively obtains data and projections from the DoF
relating to the wider outlook for the Northern Ireland Block for the
entirety of the budget period,;

b. The Commission, taking account of the DoF projections, proposes its

draft budget and presents it to the Audit Committee. At the same time,
the Commission also provides the draft budget figures to the DoF;

Interaction with Audit Committee:

Context

Via an agreed mechanism (e.g. Standing Orders) and in keeping with the
Executive budgetary timetable, the Audit Committee lays a report on the
Commission's draft budget;

Key Milestones

a. In advance of laying that report, the Commission attends an Audit
Committee meeting(s) to give evidence on its draft budget;

b. In advance of laying that report, the Audit Committee receives
written evidence from DoF (cleared in advance by the Finance
Minister) on the wider outlook for the Northern Ireland Block and
the DoF view of the Commission’s draft budget. In considering the
Commission’s draft budget, the Committee should have due regard
to the evidence provided by the DoF.

c. Evidence to the Committee from the DoF shall be included in the
Committee’s report to the Assembly;

d. The Committee prepares and lays its report;

Pack Page 135



MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING ON THE NIAC BUDGET SETTING
PROCESS

Appendix A
Finalisation of Budget:

Context

The Commission prepares its final budget, taking on board the recommendations
of the Audit Committee and submits a motion to the Business Committee;

Key Milestones

a. The Assembly as a whole debates the final budget in Plenary before
voting on the motion (without amendment) that it be "agreed and
incorporated into the Executive's Budget and the subsequent Main
Estimates."

b. The vote of the Assembly in respect of the Commission's budget is
reflected, without amendment, in the budget prepared by the
Executive;

In-Year Amendments to Budget:

Context

On an in-year basis, financial controls are established that are aligned to the
arrangements for setting the initial budget.

Key Milestones

a. TheCommission preparesand submits its contribution to Monitoring
Rounds and the Spring Supplementary Estimate. The submission
of the Commission's contribution to Monitoring Rounds and the
Spring Supplementary Estimate will be subject to agreed
thresholds between the Commission and the Committee. If these
thresholds are not exceeded, the Commission will not seek the
Audit Committee's view on its in-year position.

Review:

This methodology will be reviewed within one year of its first use and at the conclusion
of every Executive budget setting period.

Pack Page 136



166'265°9¢ | (s8L'6v) | (6£2'659°C) | 286'¥SLZE | vEL'E6 | 089'2ZY'¥T | Lv6'8ZEVT 10276 | 000'S69°C | £€6,°009°C | 991'708ZE | 1ZZ'PLP'BE |ejoL
66022 - - - - - - - - - - - Sjasse paxy Jo [esodsip uo sso|/(1oid)
9evr'2sL 0 (Giz'ziL) G8C L G60'Ge | 2€8'CLS 181'18Y G606z | LGL'LL 9G0'2S GRZ v¥.L 000°258 20uEmo||y AHed N
¥1L'8G1'9 0 (Zo0'c86'l) | €€6885G | 966'LC | LI6EVCY | 9L6'LCCY 966'LC | ¢e8'GLY 928'eSt ££6'885'G 0002462 (ue1s “joun) s3s09 Aouanjsuo)
8ve'eie ©oc2) | (WGesel) | 9v920E | 9ie | 808'cec | ¢bvEEc | 9lE [ 899'LC Ise'le | 2L6 ¥0E 000'L¥¥ [oAB1]L SIBQUIBIN =,
Y9686 ) E (v68'22) 82¢e'.8 08l /6508 L1¥'08 08l €ez'e ev0'e 82¢e'/8 Lge oLl SJs0 Jayl0 siequisiy o
625'820°L |0 (8c2'609'L) | 29L'9L6'G | 9L¥ 00L'0L¥Y | G29'60V¥ | 9LF oS €8Y ¥90'c8Y 29.°9/6'G | 000'98S'L sale|es siequiap upnu
122628’y | (210°2) v 108) | 79820V ¥y | 6Lrc | LI0cEcE | ces6eee | 6L¥€ | c€LB0E | €STGOE | Li8VIVY 000'60€'S $1S00 UIWPY [T
600'999°GI | (zoe'ee) | (LvL'6EL) €GC 66 Gl | 9c9'cv | 0892LLLL | ¥¥#0'0L9'LL | 9E9CF Z62'8EC L | 959'G6Z L | GG1'6€8'GL | 000'BESG 9L saliejeg jele}aidss
(960'69) - (080zsh) | (0sozsh) | v») | (6Sew0l) | (Si8'€0l) | O€ (8zvel) | (8sv'el) | (080'zsh) | - awoou|
wnunQ 18bpnq jebpnq jsesalod Jep 1obpng |lemoy Jep 18bpng |enjoy Buuojiuol | @apiwwio) 0003
1ea) loud | 1eap Jea\ |Ind wnyno L1-92Q 1pny 0}

TLEPA? Buuadp aeak |In4d ul 40Q o} pajuasaid

-0aQ 0} 0} pauodal 19bpnq

1SB22104 | }SED23104 8jeQq 0} Jeap L10Z 28Q - YIuo juauny yobpng Jeak Iny

wniyng | winpnQ jo 1ea) [Ind Buiuadp

jo aoueleA

2oUBLEA

110z 1aquiasa( - Hoday asueuly
g Xipuaddy

12VH.1X3 SINNODJVY LINIFWIDVYNVYIN TVNYILNI OVIN



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 14 Awdurdod Safonau Seneddol Annibynnol | Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority

Independent Parliamentary

Standards Authority
4™ Floor
Independent Parliamentary 30 Millbank
Standards Authority London
SW1P 4DU
Simon Thomas AM T 0207811 6400
Chair, Finance Committee E info@theipsa.org.uk
National Assembly for Wales W www.theipsa.org.uk
Cardiff Bay
Cardiff
CF99 1NA

9 February 2018

Dear Mr Thomas

Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

The Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority (IPSA) is the statutory regulator responsible for
determining the pay and pensions for UK Members of Parliament, as well as a scheme for the
business costs and expenses which they can claim. IPSA was set up in 2009 to take on the role of
regulating and administering business costs and expenses, which was previously carried out by the
House of Commons. Our powers in relation to MPs’ pay and pensions came into effect in 2011.

We understand that you are currently undertaking an inquiry to establish how the Assembly
Commission forecasts its budget for Remuneration Board determinations, and as part of this how
other parliaments budget for expenditure related to Members’ pay and allowances.

The Office of the Clerk of the House of Commons have asked us to provide a response in respect of
the areas that IPSA is responsible for. | am therefore attaching a short document which sets out the
budget limits for MPs in different areas of expenditure, with information on how these figures were
arrived at; as well as an explanation of how MPs’ salaries and loss of office payments have been

determined. | have also set out how these feed into IPSA’s overall budget estimate.

| hope this is useful for the inquiry, but please do not hesitate to contact me if you require further or
more detailed information.

Yours sincerely

Nicole Casey
Head of Policy and Assurance

CcC John-Paul Flaherty, Private Secretary to the Clerk of the House of Commons

Pack Page 138


mailto:info@theipsa.org.uk
http://www.theipsa.org.uk/

IPSA response to National Assembly for Wales Finance Committee Inquiry on the
Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

Scheme budget limits

Under the Parliamentary Standards Act 2009, IPSA has the power to prepare a scheme for MPs’
allowances, which may impose limits on the amounts that are paid. We set budget limits for a
number of areas of expenditure. MPs must normally stay within these limits; however in exceptional

circumstances we can agree an uplift for an individual MP.

Below we have set out the budget limits for 2017/18 and an explanation of how they have been
calculated. These are the basis for IPSA’s budget for MPs’ costs.

= Accommodation (rent)

Renting in London Renting outside London
£22,760 £15,850

MPs from non-London constituencies can choose to rent a property in London, or in their
constituencies. The London rental budget is based on the average cost of a one-bed property in
the boroughs of Westminster and Lambeth, plus £3,000 for ‘associated costs’ (i.e. utilities and
council tax). Previously, there were a number of bands for renting outside London,
corresponding with different regions, but since 2017/18 they have been simplified and now all
MPs can claim up to what was the highest band. This also includes a nominal £3,000 for
associated costs.

= Accommodation (associated costs only)

London area MP Non London area MP
£5,000 £5,000

MPs who do not need to rent because they own their homes can still claim for associated costs
in either London or their constituencies. The limit was for several years set at £8,850, as a
transitional amount from the period when MPs were able to claim for mortgage interest
subsidies. However, from 2017-18 we used previous claims data over time to reduce this to an
amount which more closely reflects what the vast majority of MPs actually claim in a year
(£5,000).

= Staffing costs

London area MP Non London area MP
£161,550 £150,900

The staffing costs budget covers primarily the salaries of MPs’ staff members, as well as
employers’ contributions to National Insurance and pension schemes. It can also be used to
cover incidental expenses for volunteers; one-off health and welfare costs such as eye tests;
and other things related to employing staff. Staff can only be employed within certain job role
categories and a corresponding salary range. In arriving at the budget figure, we assume four
members of staff per MP — an Office Manager, a Senior Parliamentary Assistant and two

1
Pack Page 139



Caseworkers —and use the 60% mark of each salary range. These are totalled up and the on-
costs added.

Office costs

London area MP Non London area MP
£26,850 £24,150

The office costs budget covers rental costs for MPs’ constituency offices, as well as equipment
and stationery purchases, venue hire for surgeries and other costs that the MP judges are
necessary for carrying out their role (and which are not covered by other budgets). Until 2011-
12 there were two separate Constituency office rental expenses (CORE) and General Admin
Expenditure (GAE) budgets. CORE and GAE were based on data of expenditure incurred by MPs
which was provided to IPSA by the House of Commons, uprated for inflation. Afterwards, these
two budgets were combined into a single office costs budget in order to provide greater
flexibility for MPs. Since then, the limits have been uprated in line with inflation (for 2017-18
this was an increase of 1.6%).

Winding up costs

London area MP Non London area MP
£57,150 £53,950

MPs who leave Parliament — either because they stand down or lose an election — can continue
to claim for costs for a further two months in order to wind up their affairs. These budget limits
were originally based on an amount equivalent to three months of office and staffing costs, and
have not changed since 2014/15. Most former MPs significantly underspend their winding up
budget.

Salaries and loss of office payments

Our legislation also gives IPSA the power to set MPs’ salaries and other payments made in
connection with an individual ceasing to be an MP (what we call ‘loss of office payments’).
Information on these is set out below. These also feed into IPSA’s budget for MPs’ costs.

Basic salary

All MPs receive a basic salary, provided they have taken the Oath. In 2015, after an extensive
review spanning several years, we implemented a one-off increase to MPs’ salaries, to £74,000
per annum. At the same time, we indexed salaries to the average change in salaries across the
public sector. In 2016/17 the salary was increased by 1.3% in line with this index, and in
2017/18 it was increased by 1.4%. It is currently £76,011.

London Area Living Payment

MPs with a constituency in the London area receive a London Area Living Payment (LALP) on
top of their basic salary. This additional sum recognises the higher cost of living and travelling in
the London area. (However, they are not able to claim for accommodation costs or for
commuting costs into Westminster.) Those MPs whose constituencies are in outer London
receive an additional LALP amount, essentially to cover their higher travel costs. In 2017/18, the

2
Pack Page 140



LALP is £3,820 and additional LALP is £1,350. Previously these amounts had been stagnant (at
£3,760 and £1,330) but were uplifted this year by inflation. The original amounts were based on
recommendations made by the Senior Salaries Review Board in 2007, rated for inflation.

= Additional salary for Committee Chairs

MPs who are the Chair of a Select Committee or a Member of the Panel of Chairs receive an
additional salary amount. In 2016 after a review this was set at £15,025 per annum for all
relevant MPs. It is subject to the same annual adjustment as the base salary, in line with the
average change in salaries across the public sector. In 2017/18 it was increased by 1.4% to
£15,235.

= Loss of office payments

MPs who lose their seats at an election are entitled to a loss of office payment (LOOP), which is
equivalent to twice their statutory redundancy entitlement. Because it is calculated based on
the statutory entitlement, the amounts vary by individual depending on their age and length of
service, and are only available to MPs who have completed at least two years of service. After
the 2017 General Election, the amounts that former MPs were entitled to ranged from £1,956
to £29,340.

IPSA’s budget estimate

Our approach to budgeting aims to be accurate and minimise underspends, whilst remaining
prudent. Each year, IPSA produces a budget estimate which must be approved by the Speaker’s
Committee for IPSA (SCIPSA). The estimate covers MPs’ costs, known as ‘Subhead A’, as well as
IPSA’s own costs, known as ‘Subhead B’. This section is focused on how the estimate for Subhead A
is produced.

With regard to MPs’ costs subject to budget limits, we do not as a general rule assume 100% uptake
by MPs. We use data from previous years to establish a reasonable assumption of the uptake in each
area. This ensures that the money drawn from the Treasury over the course of the year is a closer
approximation of the actual amounts spent. However, we do provide a 1% contingency in the
budget to cover for any unexpected changes that could not be foreseen at the time of budget
setting.

Arriving at a budget estimate for salaries and LALP is more straightforward as there are fixed
numbers of relevant MPs. The exception is the additional salary for Committee Chairs, as the
number can fluctuate during a year. We budget based on the number of relevant MPs at the time.

IPSA does not retain any money or carry forward unspent budget to subsequent years; all unused

budget is sent back to HM Treasury. We also do not transfer monies between Subhead A and
Subhead B.

3
Pack Page 141



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
Y tanwariant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
RBU 15 Swyddfa Archwilio Gogledd Iwerddon | Northern Ireland Audit Office

Mr Simon Thomas AC

National Assembly for Wales
Chairperson of Finance Committee
Cardiff Bay

Cardiff

CF99 1NA

7 February 2018

Dear Mr Thomas
National Assembly for Wales Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend

Thank you for your letter of 8" December 2017 regarding your inquiry into the budget for
expenditure related to Members’ pay and allowances.

My response is detailed in the paragraphs below and is based on our knowledge and understanding
of the Northern Ireland Assembly Commission’s processes. We have not carried out a detailed
review of the Commission’s budget setting arrangements but have highlighted what we consider to
be the most significant aspects in terms of your inquiry.

How the Assembly Commission Forecasts its budget for Remuneration Board determinations

The costs payable to Members, are provided for under determinations issued by the Independent
Financial Review Panel® (IFRP). The current determinations are set out in the IFRP’s report issued in
March 2016 and provide ‘the detail of and rationale for the salaries, pensions and expenses that the
panel has determined will be payable to Members of the fifth Northern Ireland Assembly, covering
the period from May 2016 until 2021’.

For example, Members’ salaries during this determination period were initially set at £49,000 per
annum and will rise by £500 pa. In relation to office expenses the maximum rent that can be
claimed is £8,500 pa and up to £4,900 pa for office running costs. Therefore these expenses are
restricted and can be forecast with a degree of certainty during the budget setting process.

The Commission includes 100% of members’ allowances in their initial budget request.

In 2016-17 the budget for members’ pay and allowances amounted to £16.7 million split between
£7.8 million for pay and £8.9 million for allowances.

The Commission’s budget setting process for 2016-17 involved engagement with the then Minister
for Finance and agreeing that the controllable (excludes Members expenditure) elements of their
budget for 2016-17 would be reduced by a further 5% from the 2015-16 baseline.

1 The Independent financial review panel is legislated under the Assembly Members (Independent Financial
Review and Standards) Act (Northern Ireland) 2011. Its function is to make a determination in relation to the
salaries and allowances payable to members of the Northern Ireland Assembly Commission under section 47
of the Northern Ireland Act 1998 (the 1998 Act), and pensions, gratuities and allowances payable to Members
under section 48 of the 1998 Act.

Pack Page 142



This reduction did not apply to the full budget. Instead, it was only applied to those costs that were
within the control of the Commission, namely Secretariat expenditure. In relation to the
Commission’s budget setting process, Members’ expenses are deemed to be uncontrollable and
therefore excluded from any reductions as neither the Commission nor the Executive can amend
these costs.

Reviews carried out by the Department of Finance (DoF) and an internal management reporting
cycle, enables the Commission to monitor its resource and cash requirements over the course of the
year. The Commission’s budget is requested as a single resource limit, covering all its expenditure.

We are aware that the Commission have agreed a new approach to its budget setting process were
they will present draft budget proposals to the Assembly’s Audit Committee who will scrutinise the
draft budget. Once the Audit Committee has completed its scrutiny, their conclusions will be
reported to the Assembly. The Assembly will then vote on the Commission’s budget plans and, if
approved, that budget will be forwarded to the DoF for inclusion, without amendment, in any
subsequent budget presented to the Assembly by the Executive. [This new approach is currently on
hold until the NI Assembly resumes its operations.]

Whether the way in which the Assembly Commission provides information on the underspend is clear
and transparent

During the financial year, there is regular re-profiling and adjustment to Secretariat and Members’
budgets. As part of their budgeting and cost monitoring processes, the Commission maintain a
record of expenditure incurred to date as well as any future constituency office staff salary and rent
commitments for each member.

Every month the ninety Members will receive a line by line breakdown of their annual expenditure
to date and commitments to the year-end, which are compared to the maximum allowable expenses
provided by the IFRP determination. This process helps the Commission identify any potential over
or underspend at an individual level and cumulatively for all members.

Each month the Commission’s Finance Branch prepare a full set of management accounts and
forecasts which are formally presented to the Senior Management Group (SMG). Expenditure
Reports are generated by the 5" working day of each month for all cost centres which are circulated
to budget managers and directors. The reports show actual v budget to date and also budget
forecast for the full year.

An analysis of variances is undertaken by directors and their Head of Business (HOB) and this is
discussed at a monthly meeting between each of them and the Finance Office.

These meetings take place between the 6 and 7" working day and inform the re-profiling and
adjustments to each category of expense. All Directors return a breakdown of this analysis outlining
the revised forecasts and how much is being bid for or surrendered. Surpluses must be explained
clearly and where no longer required they must be identified for surrender. The Commission’s
Finance Branch then collates this information which is reported back to SMG by way of a formal

paper.

The Commission’s Finance Branch prepares a monthly summary of bids and surrenders for
consideration by the Senior Management. Once agreed, the Finance Branch then process the bids
and surrenders in time for the next month’s expenditure report. This information is used to inform
the formal Departmental monitoring rounds as appropriate, with surplus funds being surrendered at
the earliest opportunity.

Pack Page 143



Following the formal DoF Dec/Jan monitoring round, when the overall expenditure is fixed to the
Spring Supplementary Expenditure position, the emphasis of the monthly process shifts from looking
at potential underspends and subsequent surrenders to focussing more on the most efficient
utilisation of the remaining resources.

Transparency of the actual spend on Members’ pay and allowances is evident from disclosure in the
NI Assembly Commission Resource Accounts. The Remuneration and Staff Report details the
members’ salary-based costs which amounted to £7 million in 2016-17. Note 5 Programme Costs
records other payments to Members. In 2016-17 these amounted to £8.8 million. The overall spend
on members’ pay and allowances for 2016-17 is therefore £15.8 million.

How the Assembly Commission decides to utilise the underspend after meeting the Remuneration
Board’s determinations

While the members allowance budget is not formally ring fenced, the NI Assembly has an informal
arrangement with DoF that any surplus members’ allowance monies are returned to DoF and are not
vired to other headings.

Should you wish to discuss further any matters within this letter please do not hesitate to contact
me.

Yours sincerely

Kieran Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General

Pack Page 144



Pwyllgor Cyllid | Finance Committee
tapwakiant sy'n deillio o Benderfyniadau'r Bwrdd Taliadau | Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend
| e yddfa Archwilio Genedlaethol | National Audit Office

Nat|0na| AUdrt Ofﬁce Helping the nation spend wisely
Comptroller and Auditor General Telephone  +44 (0)20 7798 7777
Sir Amyas Morse KCB Facsimile +44 (0)20 7798 7990

Email amyas.morse@nao.gsi.gov.uk

Simon Thomas AC
Chair, Finance Committee Date 19 February 2018
National Assembly for Wales

Ve Mo

Thank you for. your letter of 8 December. You invited me to provide written evidence to support an inquiry to
establish how parliaments, such as the United Kingdom'’s, budget for expenditure related to Members’ pay
and allowances.

in the United Kingdom the remuneration of Members of Parliament is determined by the Independent
Parliamentary Standards Authority (IPSA), which | audit under statute. | am aware that my technical team has
enabled a member of your staff to make direct contact with IPSA, which is best placed to comment on the
budgetary process for Member's pay and allowances.

| have no observations to make regarding the function of the National Assembly for Wales.

AM E MORSE
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road, Victoria, London SW1W 9SP ISOQAR | LKA
020 7798 7000 www.nao.org.uk . Pack Page 145 0028

Cert No. 8835
1SO 14001



Ag en d a Ite m 7 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 146



Ag en d a Ite m 8 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 154



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 157



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 160



	Agenda
	2 The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population: Evidence session 1 (Welsh NHS Confederation and Social Care Wales)
	FIN(5)-07-18 P2 – Social Care Wales: Written evidence
	Research Brief

	3 The Cost of Caring for an Ageing Population: Evidence session 2 (Wales Public Services 2025)
	Research Brief

	6 Inquiry on the Remuneration Board’s Determination Underspend: Consideration of written evidence
	FIN(5)-07-18 P5 Summary of evidence
	FIN(5)-07-18 P6 Consultation pack
	Consultation pack-e.pdf
	Draft 1 Cover & Contents (Booklet) without contact details.pdf
	RBU 1 New Zealand
	RBU 2 Assemblée nationale
	RBU 3 NAfW Remuneration board
	RUB 4 Swedish Riksdag Remunerations Board - Sweden
	RUB 5 Audit Scotland
	RUB 6 Assembly Commission (e)
	RUB 7 Swedish Riksdag Administration
	RUB 8 House of Commons
	RUB 9 AGW e
	RUB 9 AGW e.pdf
	RUB 9 AGw annex e

	RUB 10 New Zealand Parliament
	RUB 11 Cab Sec Finance e
	RUB 12 Scottish Parliament
	RUB 13 Northern Ireland Assembly 
	RBU 14 Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority
	RBU 14 Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority.pdf
	IPSA response to NAfW Finance Committee Inquiry


	RUB 15 Northern Ireland Comptroller and Auditor General
	RUB 16 National Audit Office


	7 Inquiry into the financial preparedness for leaving the European Union: Approach to scrutiny
	8 Tax Collection and Management (Wales) Act 2016: Tax Statutory Instruments
	FIN(5)-07-18 P9 The Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (References to Welsh Revenue Authority Financial Investigators) Order 2018
	FIN(5)-07-18 P10 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2018




